Conceptual Analysis of Web 2.0 Technology Use

to Enhance Parent-School Relationships

Yao Zhao

Department of Graduate and Undergraduate

Studies in Education

Submitted in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Education

Faculty of Education, Brock University

St. Catharines, Ontario

© Yao Zhao 2013

Abstract

Parent-school relationships contribute significantly to the quality of students' education. The Internet, in turn, has started to influence individuals' way social communication and most school boards in Ontario now use the Internet to communicate with parents, which helps build parent-school relationships. This project comprised a conceptual analysis of how the Internet enhances parent-school relationships to support Ontario school board administrators seeking to implement such technology. The study's literature review identified the links between Web 2.0 technology, parent-school relationships, and effective parent engagement. A conceptual framework of the features of Web 2.0 tools that promote social interaction was developed and used to analyze websites of three Ontario school boards. The analysis revealed that school board websites used static features such as email, newsletters, and announcements for communication and did not provide access to parents for providing feedback through Web 2.0 features such as instant messaging. General recommendations were made so that school board administrators have the opportunity to implement changes in their school community with feasible modifications. Overall, Web 2.0-based technologies such as interactive communication tools and social media hold the most promise for enhancing parent-school relationships because they can help not only overcome barriers of time and distance, but also improve the parents' desire to be engaged in children's education experiences.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like express my sincerest appreciation to my supervisor Dr. Kamini Jaipal Jamani and my second reader Dr. Candace Figg for their dedication in guiding me throughout this project. They supported me throughout my project with their patience and knowledge. This project would not have been possible without their support and supervising.

Deepest gratitude is also due to Mr. Mark Poulin, my proof reader, and Ms. Janet Pollock, who have put considerable time and effort into their comments on the draft. Without their knowledge and assistance this study would not have been successfully accomplished.

As an international student, special thanks also to my parents and my husband Jinhong Wang for their always kind support and encouragement which helps me in completion of this project as well as my Master degree in Canada.

I would also like to express my love and gratitude to my beloved Canada family, my landlady Janet Campbell, for her understanding and caring during my staying.

Table of Contents

Page

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgments	
List of Tables	v
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY Background of the Problem Statement of the Problem Context Purpose of the Study Rationale Theoretical Framework Outline of the Remainder of the Document	1 3 5 7 8 9 9
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	11
Educational Context	11
Technology Context	21
Summary	33
CHADTED THREE, EDAMEWORK AND METHODS	26
Method of Concentual Analysis	36
Rationale to Establish the Framework	30
Features of Web 2.0 Website for the Purpose of Interaction	38
Criteria to Assess Parents' Experiences as Users	30
Application to Conceptual Framework	39 42
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS	46
Application of Framework of Web 2.0 Features in the School Boards' Websites	46
Analysis of Parents' Experiences as Users	57
Summary of Main Findings of Parents' Experience as Users	63
CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION	66
Summary of the Project	67
Discussion of Findings	68
Implications for Practice	71
Recommendations for Future Studies	72
Conclusion	73
References	75
Appendix A: Snapshot of the Homenage of DSBN	85
Appendix B: Snapshot of the "Parent" Main Page of DSBN	86
Appendix C: Snapshot of the Homepage of OCDSB	87
Appendix D: Snapshot of the "Parent" Main Page of OCDSB	88
Appendix E: Snapshot of the "Parent" Main Page of TDSB	89
Appendix F: Snapshot of the Simplified Chinese Version Webpage of TDSB	90

List of Tables

Table		Page
1:	Features of a Successful Web 2.0 Website for the Purpose of Interaction	40
2:	Criteria for Enhanced Parents' Experiences on School Board Websites	43
3:	Basic Information of the Three School Boards	45
4:	Application of Web 2.0 Features in District School Board of Niagara Website .	48
5:	Application of Web 2.0 Features in the Ottawa-Carleton District School Board Website	51
6:	Application of Web 2.0 Features in the Toronto District School Board Websites	53
7:	Medium Level of Interactivity of Web 2.0 Features in the Three Websites	54
8:	Higher Level of Interactivity of Web 2.0 Features in the Three Websites	55

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY

This study explored technological approaches—especially Web 2.0 technology that allows users to not only read information but also to interact and communicate with others about that information—that enhance parent–school relationships in Ontario. A conceptual framework of criteria for designing an effective Web 2.0-based parent–school communication tool was derived from the literature and used to analyze the extent to which three school boards take effective action via Internet to promote active parent– school interaction.

The parent–school relationship is generally described as a conversation or connection between schools and parents; Ames (1993) described such a connection simply as "communication" (p. 6). However, according to her, communication in this context assumes that the school as a whole is the information provider while parents are more like message receivers. Actually, the "connectedness" between parents and schools should involve more than mere "frequency of contact" (Ames, 1993, p. 8). Parents are the most significant partners of schools for children's schooling (Berthelsen & Walker, 2008; Grolnick & Slowiaczek, 1994; Hill & Taylor, 2004) and they are considered to have shared responsibility with schools to "improve the education of children" (Ames, 1993, p. 5). It is also clear that the "quality" of the parent–school relationships "provides the impetus for parents to become involved" (Ames, 1993, p. 8).

Generally, schools encourage parents to participate in children's education through activities such as parent–teacher conferences; as well they are willing to share information with parents, which is briefly called parental involvement or parental engagement (Beethelson & Walker, 2008; Pushor, 2007). These latter two notions can be broadly defined as parental behavior (Berthelsen & Walker, 2008). The literature suggests that there is a difference between parental involvement and parental engagement, which will be explained in chapter 2. An ideal situation would be for parents to engage in their children's education actively and voluntarily, thereby demonstrating the behaviour of parental engagement.

In this project, active parental engagement is conceptualized as interactive activities initiated by parents with educators, including teachers, schools, and school boards administrators. In this case, the interaction involves two-way communication. It is not easy to evaluate the degree of desire parents have for being involved in their children's education experiences, nor the degree of effort parents put into their children's education experiences. Although it is a belief that parents are willing to put as much effort as they can to be involved in helping their children to succeed, there is no evidence to show that it is a common phenomenon. Thus some actions and strategies should be taken to prompt and stimulate parents' desire to communicate with schools actively so that they would like to engage. Therefore, schools or school boards often take on the responsibility of encouraging parents to demonstrate active parental engagement in order to establish interactive and effective ways of communication between parents and schools.

Effective communication in today's society incorporates multiple uses of Internet technology that facilitate working, shopping, doing business, and learning. In today's lifestyles, people spend increasing amounts of time on websites for learning and for communicating with others. Therefore, website creators put great effort into satisfying users to make them view the websites more frequently as well as stay on the websites longer, the latter being referred to as "stickiness" (Rouse, 2005). The ability of Web 2.0 technologies to allow users to not only read what is supplied on the website but to also interact and communicate with others on the website is one of the most effective ways to promote stickiness—that is, keeping users on the websites and actively engaged (Gallaugher, 2008; Phipps, 2007). In this project, I explored the use of Web 2.0-based technologies to promote parental engagement and strengthen parental–school board communication.

Background of the Problem

My interest in analyzing the websites of school boards in Ontario stemmed from my course in field experiences whose main focus was to give international students like me a very basic idea of the educational system and structure in Ontario. For obtaining more information of the school board that related to the course. I searched its websites to get more information. When I was browsing the websites, I was not satisfied as a web user because the websites were basically made up of static webpages that did not offer any interaction. I felt that if I was a parent, I definitely would not go to the website and I would lose my interest and desire to communicate with the school board. Therefore, as a former website editor, I became interested in investigating a project that connected with Internet technology and parent–school relationships. After completing the course, I conducted further and deeper research on this topic. I read a great number of journal articles and books. Gradually the idea became clearer that the Web 2.0-based technologies had the potential to improve the parents' experiences as web users, thus encouraging them to put more effort into online interactivity with school boards, consequently improving parent-school relationships.

Currently in Ontario, the parent–school relationship largely relies on offline communication such as parents meeting or phone calls (Ontario Ministry of Education [OME], 2005; People for Education, 2012). Technological methods/tools such as emails, newsletters, websites, and even social media are used as well. Most schools and school boards have created websites to deliver their information, and email systems to communicate with teachers, staff, and parents. Some schools even use social networking tools like Facebook and Twitter to interact with the community. According to the information found on the OME's (2013) website, among 83 district school boards and school authorities, there are only 6 district school boards or school authorities that do not have their own websites. That is to say, 93% of the district school boards and school authorities in Ontario are using Internet technology for educational services.

Although the OME has made a considerable effort to enhance parent–school communication, parents in Ontario have expressed the need for active engagement in the parent–school relationship (OME, 2005, 2010; People for Education, 2012). According the OME's (2005) *Report of the Parent Voice in Education Project*, parents need a more effective communication system and the report emphasized that supporting a network of parents is important as well. In this report, email networks and informative websites are mentioned and parents believe that by these means they can have more chances to have two-way conversations with teachers, schools, and schools boards. Moreover, the OME (2005) noted that

Many parents said that they wanted to be able to communicate directly with the Minister of Education, and they stressed the importance of a grassroots approach. They suggested that the Minister come to regular meetings in their regions, but they acknowledged that it may not always be possible to speak directly to the Minister. They said they wanted direct communication with someone who would be willing to listen and have the power to respond or act on the information. (pp. 14-15)

Actually, the seemingly impossible goal of speaking directly to the Minister of Education can be achieved via the technology approach. However, currently, there is a huge gap between the parents' need for interactive communication and the application of technology in parent-school communication. Not surprisingly, research showed that the way technology is used to support students' learning and provide effective interaction with parents received the lowest percentage of parent satisfaction when compared with other educational aspects (Sinay & Zheng, 2010). Even in 2012, when the Internet has become the most significant part of people's social life and way of communication, there are still only 60% of councils among Ontario school boards reportedly using email to communicate with parents and only 12% of parent councils use social media like Twitter or Facebook to communicate to their school community (People for Education, 2012). Since parent engagement is considered as a more active form of parent behaviour than parent involvement (Alberta Education, 2011), some effective ways of parent-school online interaction should be provided in order to arouse parents' desire of being involved, which would be helpful in establishing a more efficient and active parent-school relationship.

Statement of the Problem Context

In my review of the related literature, I found that there is a huge gap in relation to communication between the school boards and the parents' expectations. On the one

hand, parents are eager to be involved in school and to have direct conversation with teachers and education administrators; on the other hand, school boards fail to create an inviting and interactive environment to communicate with parents.

An initial review of the websites of the 31 English Public school boards, 29 English Catholic school boards, four French Public school boards, and eight French Catholic school boards in province of Ontario shows that most of those school boards in Ontario have Parent Involvement Committees or similar programs that focus on providing the necessary supports and assistance for parents' involvement at the regional level. Such programs also establish links between parents and the school board's director of education and trustees (OME, 2013). However, according to the websites, these school boards prefer to use workshops and conferences to communicate with parents rather than using technological means. Meanwhile, the review also shows that information posted on the websites largely comprises read-only documents and resources that do not allow parents to put any comments on them or provide immediate feedback.

Meanwhile, the external situation, particularly the development of technology, has an impact on the field of education. Many administrators and school board leaders do not have the background or adequate knowledge to utilize advanced technology as a tool for active communication. With the development of technology, a great number of Internet applications for communicating have emerged, which provide an interactive communication platform for communities. Most of the popular ways are based on Web 2.0 technology, such as Twitter, Facebook, and other social media tools (Gallaugher, 2008; Phipps, 2007; Travers, 2012). Considering the educational needs and the technological context, applying advanced technology in traditional parent–school communication contexts would provide education with the power of allowing "users to collaborate, create resources, and share information in a distinctly different way than the static" (Gallaugher, 2008, p. 1).

There is therefore a need to build an awareness of the Web 2.0-based interactive platform, to explore and highlight how technological approaches can be used to promote more interactive communication with parents and school administrators. Building an effective and supportive interactive Web 2.0-based platform relies on feasible and functional criteria; hence, analyzing and understanding these criteria will be helpful to promote the importance of the Web 2.0 interactive platform for parent–school communication.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to conduct a conceptual analysis of the features of Web 2.0-based interactive platform that enable its use for parent–school relationships, and to propose a conceptual framework of criteria and features for designing a Web 2.0 website to promote active parent engagement in the Ontario context.

The study addressed three research questions. First: How are Web 2.0 technologies currently used for purposes of encouraging communication among users? This question was addressed through a conceptual analysis of concepts in the literature related to Web 2.0 technology; which features of Web 2.0 technologies contribute to effective and active engagement among users; and current problems of using Web 2.0 technology for effective communication.

The second question asked: As a communication tool, how can Web 2.0 technologies enhance active parental engagement so as to establish an interactive way of

communication for parents and schools in Ontario context? The question was addressed by conducting a conceptual analysis of what constitutes effective and active parental engagement, and current problems of using Web 2.0 technology for effective parent– school communication in Ontario, as well as the possible solution for filling the gap between the increasing need of using the web as an instrument to better parent–school relationships and the existing outdated Web 1.0 (read-only) technology. The analysis led to the development of a proposed framework of criteria for promoting social interaction.

Finally, the third question asked: How are Ontario school boards currently using Web 2.0 technologies for parent–school communication purposes? This question was addressed by analyzing how the three school board websites in Ontario applied the features of Web 2.0 technologies for parent–school communication purposes, using the conceptual framework of criteria that I developed.

Rationale

Parent–school relationships play a significant role in education (Davis, 2000). How to make the parent–school relationship effective is worth considering. In general, schools need parents to contribute to school activities for students' development. However, schools cannot mandate parents to undertake such responsibility. Therefore, there is a need to encourage parents to take the initiative to engage in parent–school interactions.

The development of a framework of criteria for designing parent–school websites that promote social interaction is useful in analyzing existing parent–school websites in order to modify or design websites that promote active parent engagement. I believe that administrators and school board leaders who are willing to adopt the Internet (specifically Web 2.0 interactive tools) as communication tools to communicate with parents will enable parent–school partnerships to develop more successfully.

Meanwhile, the external situation, particularly the development of technology tools that support interactive and engaging communication, has a great impact on the field of education. The situation is noteworthy. For one thing, many of those administrators and school board leaders do not have the background or adequate knowledge to utilize advancing technology as a tool for supporting technology enhanced communication. For another thing, it is necessary for them to possess such understanding. Therefore the framework can act as a guide for administrators in the design of their school board websites. The results of this study will enrich the knowledge to the field of education in the area of parent–school relationship as well as in the application of technology in the field of education.

Theoretical Framework

I understand "theoretical framework" as a theory-based map that gives guidance to a study. Put differently, it is a sort of a map-like summary of the theories that are adopted for a study. In my study, the theoretical framework will be informed by research in two areas: the technology context and the parent–school relationship context. They both refer to the concepts that I will adopt and the framework I will establish.

Outline of Remainder of the Document

Chapter 1 presents the background to the current issue, the statement of the problem, the purpose of the study, the rationale, and the theoretical framework. Chapter 2 presents a review of the related literature, including the history of the Internet, the progress of the web as a communication tool from the Web 1.0 to Web 2.0 era, the

utilization of Web 2.0-based interactive platform as a social communication tool, the significance of the parent–school relationship, and forms of parent–school communication. Chapter 3 outlines the method of conceptual analysis to develop the framework/criteria for using Web 2.0-based interactive platform to enhance active parent–school engagement. Chapter 4 provides the conceptual framework of the criteria and summarizes the results based on an analysis of three websites of selected school boards. Chapter 5 summarizes the results of the study and discusses the significance of building a Web 2.0-based interactive platform to enhance active parent–school communication, and implications for practice.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

The review of the related literature was categorized into two broad areas. The first area was the educational context whereby I reviewed the research on parent–school relationships including the definition of different parent–school relationship types, the research on the significance of parent–school relationships in children's academic performance, and the relationship of technology and parent–school relationship. The second broad category was the technology context in which I reviewed the development of the Internet, especially the progress of web technology from Web 1.0 to Web 2.0, including Internet applications which provide an interactive communication platform for communities.

Educational Context

While there are many aspects that contribute to the educational context (e.g., parents, teachers, school boards, schools, students, and cultural environment), the focus of the literature review will be on the parent's role in education. Previous literature has addressed numerous aspects of the parent–school relationship. In this section literature will be reviewed and conceptualized to illustrate the significance of parent–school relationships and categories of parent–school relationships.

Significance of the Parent–School Relationship

The OME (2010) launched the parental engagement policy for Ontario schools, which indicates that engaged parental involvement benefits all parties including "students, parents and families, teachers, schools, and communities" (p. 5) which in turn makes schools increasingly a positive place for teaching learning and growing. Considerable research shows that parent–school relationships significantly influence education in these multiple ways, and almost all studies agree that parent–school relationships benefit education (Carter, 2002; McIntosh, 2008). The OME (2010) emphasized the significance of such relationships:

Parents matter in education. They matter as vital partners who contribute much to the work of our educators, schools, and communities. They matter as parent leaders, parent mentors, and models of commitment to excellent in education, and they matter everyday as they influence and support their children's academic achievement. (p. 1)

On the one hand, the parent–school relationship contributes to schools' success and helps improve the quality of schools. For example, a positive parent–school relationship can help education administrators as well as policy makers understand the significance of developing better policy (Carter, 2002; Desforges, 2003; McKenna & Willms, 1998; Turner, 2000). Strong communication between parents and schools enables parents to have clearer understanding of school programs and policies, so that they can have an awareness of their children's performance and progress relative to learning. More importantly, such a strong parent–school relationship enables parents to work with the school more effectively when there are some concerns or issues occur (Alberta Education, 2011).

On the other hand, parent–school relationships play essential and important roles in children's academic outcomes (Davis, 2000; Desforges, 2003; Driessen, Smit, & Sleegers, 2004; Epstein, 1986; Fan & Chen, 2001; Gianzero, 1999; Hill & Taylor, 2004; McKenna & Willms, 1998; Stelmach, 2006; Turner, 2000). Research shows that there is a strong positive relationship between parent–school communication and children's actual level of achievement. Parental involvement can improve student outcomes related to learning throughout their elementary, middle school, and even secondary years (Carter, 2002; Edwards & Warin, 2010; Gianzero 1999; Grolnick, 1997; Turner, 2000), including in their transitional stages—for instance from kindergarten to elementary school or from early childhood to adolescence (Carter, 2002; Hill & Taylor, 2004). Parents should be alongside teachers as key stakeholders of children's education experiences. Therefore, it is necessary that the connection and communication between schools and parents needs to be clear, structured, and consistent (Turner, 2000). When parents establish good relationships with schools, it is much easier for parents and schools alike to build a consensus about appropriate social and academic behaviour standards for students so that parents and schools can effectively communicate and guide children both at home and at school (Hill & Taylor, 2004).

Literature also shows that parents believe it is their role to take the primary responsibility for children's educational achievement, as well as share responsibility and the common goals with teachers to help their children to achieve most efficiently and effectively (Ames, 1993; Berthelsen & Walker, 2008; Brien & Stelmach, 2009; Carter, 2002; Davis, 2000; Desforges, 2003; Epstein, 1986; Fan & Chen, 2001; Gianzero, 1999; Graham-Clay, 2005; Grolnick & Slowiaczek, 1994; Hill & Taylor, 2004; Hoover-Dempsey, Bassier, & Brissie, 1987; Huseth, 2001; McKenna & Willms, 1998; Stelmach, 2006; Turner, 2000). Parents benefit as well by a positive and successful parent–school relationships. Such relationships can provide more information as well as increase parents' skills, which makes them have more knowledge and increases their ability to assist their children in their school-related activities (Hill & Taylor, 2004). Specifically,

parents can learn from the schools how to help their children in both homework and social skills. Also, they learn about school information, school policies, and practices, as well as extracurricular activities from other parents.

Types of Parent–School Relationships

Parental behaviour varies from parent to parent as it relies on the ability of parents to understand what is happening in the school and school board. Generally, the way parents understand and construct their behaviour is diverse, and the reason that parents are participating are diverse as well. Also, multiple definitions of parent involvement have been proposed and defined broadly based on parents' behaviour on behalf of children, as well as on parents' expectations for their children's future education (Berthelsen & Walker, 2008).

Literature shows that the parent–school relationship is characterized by the parents' actual contact with schools, including being present at general school meetings, talking with teachers via either phone calls or face-to-face communication, attending parent–teacher conferences, attending school events, volunteering at school, and home-based involvement including assisting children with school related tasks like homework and talking with children about academic issues (Bloch, 2002; Graham-Clay, 2005; Grolnick & Slowiaczek,1994; Hill & Taylor, 2004; Huseth, 2001; McKenna & Willms, 1998; Pomerantz, Moorman, & Litwack, 2007; Thompson, 2009). Graham-Clay (2005) explained that the parent–school communication initiated by teachers refers to informing parents about events, activities, or student progress through a variety of sources, such as an introductory letter at the beginning of the school year, classroom or school newsletters, report cards, and newsletter and school websites. However, these websites

mentioned were only able to carry out the function of delivering information to parents and did not promote parent initiated communication.

When considering the parent–school relationship, there are three terms that are often discussed in the literature: parental participation, parental involvement, and parental engagement (Berthelsen & Walker, 2008; Pomerantz et al., 2007; Pushor, 2007). Some researchers consider the three terms as the same or similar concepts while others insist that these three terms stand for different attitudes or forms of parent behaviour.

According to Berthelsen and Walker (2008), parental behaviour may be described by three kinds of attitudes. First of all, some parents "may be active because parents believe that they bear the primary responsibility for children's educational achievement" (p. 35). The second kind of parents "may hold a notion of partnership with schools that responsibilities for children's learning are shared between parents and schools" (p. 35). Thirdly, some other parents "may not believe that they should take an active role or may lack the confidence to be involved" (p. 35). Such different attitudes can be summarized as active, neutral, and passive communication.

Grolnick and Slowiaczek (1994) defined parent involvement as the dedication of resources by the parent to the child within a given domain. Pushor (2007) explained that the word "involvement" originates from the Latin, and the primary meaning in education domain refers to "to roll into' and by extension implies wrapping up or enveloping parents somehow into the system" (p. 1). Also, Pushor emphasized that parents who are involved in serving school's affairs do so generally by doing the things that educators "ask or expect them to do," for example, "volunteering at school, parenting in positive ways, and supporting and assisting their children at home with their schoolwork "(p. 2). Parent involvement in children's schooling as behaviours can be measured in multiple ways including: concern for and participating in activities at school (e.g., attending parent-teacher conferences and school activities, volunteering at school) and at home (e.g., helping with homework, asking about school); knowing about and keeping abreast of what is going on with the child in school; communicating with teachers and other school personnel; assisting in academic activities at home; and attending school events and parent-teacher conferences (Grolnick, 1997; Hill & Taylor, 2004). Parent involvement is influenced by many factors such as the degree to which parents can understand the significance of the relationship, and the degree to which the schools offer support. As Berthelson and Walker (2008) stated, "Schools play a strong role in determining the level and nature of parental involvement" (p. 36).

Parental engagement in schools is defined as parents and school staff working together to support and improve students including children and adolescents regarding to their learning, personal development, and health" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2012). Pushor (2007) distinguished between the two concepts of "parental involvement" and "parent engagement"; she argued that parent engagement is "an alternative way to bring teachers and parents together in schools, an alternative possibility for changing the scripted story of school" (p. 2).

Alberta Education's (2011) AISI project suggests that there are three stages in parent–school relationships: communicating, involving, and engaging. The AISI project suggested that parent engagement is the more active way in which parents involve themselves with school and actively participate in their child's learning. The AISI project also suggested that the process from parental involvement to parental engagement was evolving rather than separated. The project described the growth from parental participation to parental involvement to parental engagement as the process from "parents being informed" to "parents showing their support" to "parents taking an active role" (Alberta Education, 2011, p. 2). Furthermore, Pushor (2007) emphasized that

Engagement implies enabling parents to take their place alongside educators in the schooling of their children, fitting together their knowledge of children, teaching and learning, with teachers' knowledge. With parent engagement, possibilities are created for the structure of schooling to be flattened, power and authority to be shared by educators and parents, and the agenda being served to be mutually determined and mutually beneficial. (p. 3)

Technology and Parent–School Relationship

The interaction between parents and teachers is the most fundamental form of parent–school relationships. There are traditional ways of communication as well as brand-new ways supported by the web. Traditional ways refer to the ways mentioned previously, like face-to-face communication, attending parent–teacher conferences, attending school events, as well as volunteering at school. Huseth (2001) described several effective ways that he has used for communicating with parents, including weekly phone calls and progress reports, which are considered to be "old methods" (p. 7). There are also some new communicative ways to develop parent–school relationships such as email, classroom webpages (which only provide web calendars and web links), voice mail, video technology, radio announcements, and school websites (Bloch, 2002; Graham-Clay; 2005; Huseth, 2001; Thompson, 2009). Actually, prior to 1996, Brewer and Kallick (1996) had predicted the trend of technological communication as a promising way that would allow teachers to have communication opportunities "not limited by school hours or location" (p. 181). Compared with traditional ways of communicating, email is an effective way for teachers to share the students' information with the parents, especially in the informational era. Even though there are multiple problems and some drawbacks for using email to contact parents, it is still widely used for the purpose of encouraging parents to be involved and it is regarded as the most popular and most effective form of parent–teacher interaction in the school context (Bloch, 2002; Graham-Clay, 2005; Huseth, 2001; Thompson, 2009). Such a way has advantages over more traditional forms of parent–teacher communication (e.g., phone calls or conferences) because asynchronous communication makes teachers more accessible to parents. Compared with traditional ways of communicating, email is an effective way for teachers to share the students' information with the parents, especially in the informational era (Thompson, 2009).

The Center for the Study of Education Policy (CSEP, 2004) conducted research to explore the extent to which the schools in the state of Illinois in the United States used technology for communicating with parents. According to the CSEP, technology mainly refers to email and webpages. The CSEP report indicated that although Internet-based technological methods were among the variety of methods used by schools to communicate with families, there were still a number of issues raised by parents. One of these issues was the unavailability of technology for parent–school communication such as lack of phones or access to the Internet and/or ability to use it in many families. Other barriers influencing parents' desire to use Internet-based communications included cost issues, privacy issues, time issues, and even multiple languages. Nonetheless, researchers believe that Internet-based technological access should be readily available in schools and they believe that there is a consensus that technology to improve the parent–school relationship through electronic tools like websites, social media, software, newsletters, calendars, and videos is increasingly being utilized to communicate with the home (Alberta Education, 2011; CSEP, 2004).

How to Maintain the Parental–School Relationship

The key to developing and maintaining the parent–school relationship is continuous communication with parents through effective strategies. In Ontario, the majority of administrators of elementary and secondary schools are aware that communication plays an important role in education. According to the People for Education's (2012) *Report on Ontario's School Councils*, the majority (75%) of school councils recognized the important role that communication plays for developing and maintaining relationships between the schools and parents.

Whether parents would like to have effective parent–school relationship depends to a great extent on the degree to which parents understand the significance of parent– school relationships (Berthelsen & Walker, 2008). Furthermore, Berthelson and Walker (2008) suggest that it is very important to encourage the parents who lack personal selfefficacy beliefs to be involved to order to gain an awareness of their role in supporting their children's education.

Research shows that teachers and parents should share equal responsibility for the education of their children; however, there is evidence that parents place a great deal of trust in their children's teachers (Brien & Stelmach, 2009; Stelmach, 2006), and that some families' home conditions prevent them from participating in their children's

education in ways that teachers would like (Gianzero, 1999; Stelmach, 2006). The idea of legislation to mandate the rights, responsibilities, and role of parents in their children's education experience for "ensuring all parents have a right to participate in their children's schooling" is only a superficial effort (Brien & Stelmach, 2009, p. 6). The requirement to mandate parents to be involved in education is apparently a challenge and it is questioned. Therefore it is necessary to empower parents with the desire to be involved instead of mandating parental involvement (Gianzero, 1999; Stelmach, n.d.).

It is very important for the school boards to provide significant opportunities for parents to contribute meaningfully to school decisions. The strategies schools implement to enhance parent–school relationship is a significant aspect that will influence the degree of effort that parents are willing to put in. Parents feel comfortable when the school provides them with a welcoming, friendly, and inviting atmosphere and implements useful strategies such as sufficient information related to their children's school life, and effective support enhances the parent–school relationship (Graham-Clay, 2005; Huseth, 2001; McKenna & Willms, 1998; Parent Involvement Committee, 2012). In other words, school is one of the sources that provide a welcoming invitation to parents to be involved (Berthelsen & Walker, 2008).

Successful and effective parent–school interaction can also be established through social networking among parents and communities. Parents may establish social networking with other parents because the social networking is helpful for providing and sharing information either from schools or from communities (Hill & Taylor, 2004). According to Hill and Taylor (2004), "when parents are involved in their children's schooling, they meet other parents who provide information and insight on school policies and practices, as well as extracurricular activities" (p. 162). Such connections can help parents understand how difficult some situations are and handle them successfully (Brien & Stelmach, 2009).

Successful and effective parent–school interaction can stimulate parents' desire for active engagement. It involves a relationship where possibilities are created for the parents to share power and authority with educators and where both parties benefit mutually (Carter, 2002; Gianzero, 1999; Pushor, 2007). Gianzero (1999) has stated that parents always have the desire to be involved but they are not certain how to practise it. Therefore active parent engagement is also facilitated by having parents acquire knowledge and strategies to create a home environment that fosters learning, as well as instructing them how to provide support and encouragement for their children's success (Carter, 2002).

Technology Context

Over the past few decades, the rapid evolution of information technology started to change social life in a significantly amazing way (Collins, Coulson, Zhu, Rohm & Stewart, 2006; Dippelreiter et al., 2008). The digital revolution, which usually refers to the advent of the Internet, marked a turning point in the early years of the 21st century (O'Reilly, 2007). Particularly, such a digital revolution changed people's way of communication. Organizations started to adapt existing web technology to undertake multiple communication modes, and increasingly relied on this "technological and sociological paradigm shift" for communicating informally and formally with others (Dippelreiter et al., 2006, p. 329). With the development of Internet technology, the platform of the web community has developed from Web1.0 to Web 2.0. Simply stated,

Web 1.0 platforms are made of a set of static webpages and lack interaction while Web 2.0 platforms are made of a set of user-generated webpages and focus on interaction among users and Internet website creators, as well as users' experiences (Antonelli, 2009; Downes, 2005; Graham, 2005; Greenhow, Robelia, & Hughes, 2009). The application of Web 2.0 technologies provides active engagement for users, and has become part of many fields, including social networking, marketing and sales, and even learning and teaching.

Notions of Web and Internet

The World Wide Web (aka the web) was created in 1989 by Sir Tim Berners-Lee (Naik & Shivalingaiah, 2008) and it is always considered as synonymous with the term Internet (Aghaei, Nematbakhsh & Farsani, 2012; Beal, 2010); however, while the two terms are related, they are not synonymous. Beal (2010) defined the term World Wide Web as a way that helps to get access to information over the medium of the Internet and it is a way of information-sharing model that is built upon top of the Internet. McKenna (1999) explained the Internet as the "worldwide electronic network that carries digitized data from one node to another node in that network" (p. 249).

A review of the development of web technology shows such technology was developed primarily for and by scientists and engineers, especially those working for the U.S. government and military, who needed to quickly communicate and share large amounts of information. Later on, with the interaction of economic factors and technology such as the great price drop in personal computers, the increase in speed and storage capacity of computers and servers, and the developing of Internet "browser" software, the Internet has become an interpersonal communication and information sharing tool. As McKenna (1999) described, "hundreds of millions of people are connecting themselves and their families to the Internet through their personal computer, telephone line, and usually a 'portal' company" (pp. 249-250).

With the development of information technology, the technology of the web has changed. In 1999, Rea and White predicted that "sooner or later most Web users would like to become Web writers" (p. 421). Also, Kristin (n.d.) emphasized that web writers were not homepage creators, which was to say as a web writer, they are not required to have the knowledge or skills to write those codes or design a program; they merely write and post on the web (pp. 5-6). Generally, people use sequencing numbers as the version of web to distinguish the progress or the evolution of Web technology, from Web 1.0 to Web 2.0, Web 3.0, and so forth. Aghaei et al. (2012) describe the progress or web technology as "Web 1.0 as a web of cognition, Web 2.0 as a web of communication" (p. 1).

Web 1.0 and Web 2.0

Although the exact definition of Web 1.0 is a source of debate, it generally refers to the web when it was a set of static and read-only websites that did not provide interactive content (Aghaei et al., 2012; Naik & Shivalingaiah, 2008). As the initial stage of web technology, Web 1.0 was simply made up of pages grouped into websites and connected by hyperlinks. Technically, those websites were largely static, hand coded, and hard to change (Graham, 2005). Therefore it is not easy for most people to put up a website unless they have specific technical skills. Aghaei et al. (2012) defined Web 1.0 as the first generation of the web which was considered as the read-only web: "The early web provided a limited user interactions or content contributions and only allowed to search the information and read it" (pp.1-2). In Web 1.0, a small number of writers created webpages for a large number of readers. As a result, people could get information by going directly to the source. The WWW or Web 1.0 "is a system of interlinked, hypertext documents accessed via the Internet" (Naik & Shivalingaiah, 2008, p. 500). Therefore the features of Web 1.0 can be briefly generalized as mostly read-only websites with limited interactivity (Evans, 2008), and many websites used frequently today are considered Web 1.0.

Scholars admit that there is not an exact definition of the tricky term "Web 2.0." like so many other popular technology terms (Gallaugher, 2008). The origin of the term Web 2.0 is also debatable. O'Reilly (2007) insisted that the term Web 2.0 was created by DiNucci (1999) and then developed by Dougherty and O'Reilly. However, it is still believed that the term Web 2.0 was officially defined in 2004 by Dale Dougherty, vicepresident of O'Reilly Media, in a conference brainstorming session between O'Reilly and MediaLive International (Aghaei et al., 2012). According to O'Reilly (2007), Web 2.0 is defined as

the network as platform, spanning all connected devices; Web 2.0 applications are those that make the most of the intrinsic advantages of that platform: delivering software as a continually-updated service that gets better the more people use it, consuming and remixing data from multiple sources, including individual users, while providing their own data and services in a form that allows remixing by others, creating network effects through an "architecture of participation," and going beyond the page metaphor of Web 1.0 to deliver rich User Experiences. (p. 17) The core of this new technology is about how the website is shifting from a readonly to a read-and-write web, not just static pages but shareable content, forging links between "nodes" to build networks, participation, and user-generated content that is collaborative and open (Antonelli, 2009; Downes, 2005; Graham, 2005; Greenhow et al., 2009). Through Web 2.0 websites, there is no longer passive viewing of content and the users are allowed to interact and collaborate with each other as creators of user-generated content in a virtual community with less control (Aghaei et a., 2012; Muuß-Merholz, 2011). In other words, Web 2.0 relies on a great number of users who "voluntarily engage in collaborative work" (Prilla & Ritterskamp, 2008, p. 35). Users in Web 2.0 are not only the audience who accepts information passively but also broadcasters who spread information actively (Muuß-Merholz, 2011).

Essential Features of Web 2.0

The main features of Web 2.0 technologies are generalized in the literature as: (a) a platform for application and information sharing; (b) as a tool for social interaction and collaboration; and (a) as a communication tool.

Web 2.0 is a platform that allows applications to be delivered and used through a web browser (Aghaei et al., 2012; Alexander, 2006; Arnott & Bridgewater, 2002; Bates, 2011; Chau & Xu, 2012; Cormode & Krishnamurthy, 2008; IBM Corporation, 2008; Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010; Kristin, n.d.; Murugesan, 2007; Phipps, 2007). The web as platform becomes "an implicit 'architecture of participation,' a built-in ethic of cooperation, in which the service acts primarily as an intelligent broker, connecting the edges to each other and harnessing the power of the users themselves" (O'Reilly, 2007, p. 22). The web as participation empowers users to "make themselves seen and heard in

online spaces," and the web as collaboration (also understood as "crowdsourcing") refers to the idea that "a large group of people can create a collective work whose value far exceeds that provided by any of the individual participants" (O'Reilly, 2009, p. 2). Web 2.0 is both a platform where innovative technologies have been built and a space where users and the content they upload and share with others is regarded as important (Aghaei et al., 2012; Murugesan, 2007).

Web 2.0 is the architecture of participation and information sharing systems designed to encourage and support users in contributing. (Alexander, 2006; Anderson, 2007; Arnott & Bridgewater, 2002; Bates, 2011; Chau & Xu, 2012; Graham, n.d.; Kaplan & Heinlein, 2010; Kristin n.d.; Phipp, 2007; Saha and Grover, 2011). Saha and Grover (2011) explain that "The term Web 2.0 is associated with web applications that facilitate participatory information sharing, interoperability, user-centered design, and collaboration on the World Wide Web" (p. 16).

Web 2.0 is a rich, interactive, user-friendly interface that allows many of the tools, websites and applications to be developed with user consultation, leading to developments based on user needs and wants (Alexander, 2006; Anderson, 2007; Arnott & Bridgewater, 2002; Chau & Xu, 2012; Cormode & Krishnamurthy, 2008; Gallaugher, 2008; Graham, n.d.; IBM Corporation, 2008; Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010; Phipps, 2007).

Web 2.0 incorporates elements of social networking such as Facebook that promote social interaction (Alexander, 2006; Anderson, 2007; Arnott & Bridgewater, 2002; Chau & Xu, 2012; Cormode & Krishnamurthy, 2008; Graham, n.d.; Kaplan & Heinlein, 2010; Phipps, 2007). The amazingly rapid progress of information technologies enables people to have much more convenience of access to communicate (Huang, Ku, Chao, Lin, & Chen, 2012). The increasing popularity of Web 2.0 has led to exponential growth of interaction among people through the Internet (Chau & Xu, 2012). Web 2.0 was significantly applied in social media and influenced people's social lives in a great way (Gallaugher, 2008).

Web 2.0 is important for communication (Bates, 2011; Collins et al., 2006; Dixon, n.d.). Chu's (2012) case study explored the impact of Web 2.0 as a tool for improving staff communication and cultivating community awareness under an academic library context. According to her study, Web 2.0-based communication can "organize and reorganize information quickly for staff communication" (p. 148).What is more, other than information access, "the Web site also functioned as a catalog of events and notifications, allowing staff to view the developments in their unit as chronological chains of entry posts by topic" (p. 148). Meanwhile, a user-oriented capability is one of the very important features of Web 2.0-based website because content can be added, removed, revised, and reorganized. The focus of the website implementation becomes more about the content's usefulness and less about adapting to the technology.

Saha and Grover (2011) also described qualitative approaches to measure quality of websites. More importantly, their paper identified and discussed the key website quality dimensions. According to them, the most significant feature of Web 2.0 is "all about harnessing collective intelligence"; therefore, the "backbone" (p. 15) of Web 2.0 applications largely depends on responding to massive amounts of user-generated data in real time. Meanwhile, Saha and Grover summarized several of the most significant characteristics that a core Web 2.0 service should have, including: web as platform, usercentered design, rich user experience, crowd-sourcing, and collaboration.

Distinction between Web 1.0 and Web 2.0

The essential difference between Web 1.0 and Web 2.0 is that there were few content creators in Web 1.0 and the vast majority of users simply acted as consumers of content, while any user can be a content creator in Web 2.0, using the many technological aids that were created to increase the potential for content creation (Cormode & Krishnamurthy, 2008). Kaplan and Haenlein (2010) clarified the distinction of Web 2.0 from Web 1.0 as social media and user-generated content. To be specific, Web 2.0 is a platform where contents and applications are continuously modified by all users in a participatory and collaborative fashion instead of being created and published by individuals (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010). According to Greenhow et al. (2009), the distinction between Web 1.0-based website and Web 2.0-based website is whether "the users browsed, read, and obtained information and were directed through a site from a common entry point or 'front page'" (p. 247). Modi (2004) listed the essential difference between Web 1.0 and Web 2.0 from a dynamic perspective. He described the trend from Web 1.0 to Web 2.0, which is from a read-only to a read-and-write web; less usergenerated content to more; and static published content to user-contributed dynamic published content. Muuß-Merholz (2011) summarized Web 2.0 as a "Readable/ Writeable-Web" and went on to say that participants "are not only supposed to listen, but also to get engaged, to contribute, to discuss, to create, to share, to connect—in sum: to participate" (p. 1).

According to Graham (2005) and Dixon (n.d.), six out of nine of the most popular online activities rely on Web 2.0., including email, social networking (e.g., Facebook), voice and video communications, chat rooms, instant messaging, online forums, online discussion lists, online news feeds, and microblogs (e.g., Twitter).

There are multiple reasons that Web 2.0 started to replace Web 1.0. It is expected that Web 2.0 could even replace desktop computing applications for many purposes (Naik & Shivalingaiah, 2008). Graham (2005) believed that compared to Web 1.0, Web 2.0 is helpful in establishing and expanding "unofficial" social networks or connections among users and provides them with a platform to interact with each other. The Web 2.0 applications used for communication are not limited by distance and time, and are free to use.

Web User Experiences and Stickiness

Definitely, when considering the use of technology in parent–school relationships, human factors are a very vital concern. Hassenzahl (2008) pointed out that recent discussions about using technology as tools focus too much on the "technology use in itself" (p. 1) instead of viewing "what people do with and gain from technology: insight, pleasurable stimulation, social exchange are the true underlying motives for technology use; feelings and experiences its true outcomes" (p. 1). All of the emotional factors Hassenzhal mention actually are essential for both the product designers and developers, and can be grouped as "*User Experience*."

The meaning of *User Experience* is of great importance, although it is has numerous definitions (Law, Roto, Hassenzahl, Vermeeren, & Kort, 2009; Scapin, Senach, Trousse, & Pallot, 2012). Scapin et al. (2012) cited a very official definition from ISO: ISO 9241-210 (2010), which summarizes *User Experience* as a "person's perceptions and responses" that "result from using a product, system or service" and should include the users' "emotions, beliefs, preferences, perceptions, physical and psychological responses, behaviors and accomplishments that occur before, during and after use" (as cited in Scapin et al., 2012, p. 1). *User Experience* is a consequence of brand image, presentation, functionality, system performance, interactive behaviour and assistive capabilities of the interactive system, the users' internal and physical state resulting from prior experiences, attitudes, skills and personality, and the context of use. Simply stated, user experience can be described as "how a person feels about using a product, i.e., the experiential, affective, meaningful and valuable aspects of product use" (Vermeeren et al., 2010, p. 521).

Even if it is not easy to define this concept because it includes considerable "emotional, affective, experiential, hedonic, and aesthetic variables" (Law et al., 2009, p. 1), there is one thing that can be agreed upon, which is that *User Experience* is an "ongoing reflection" or "a constant stream of self-talk" related to products or events (Hassenzahl, 2008, p. 1). Hassenzahl (2008) goes on to explain that there is one component that will always be a part of experience, which is a momentary feeling that either positive or negative in various intensities and this continuous good-bad-feeling could regulate users' behaviour. Therefore, users should keep asking themselves, "How good or bad do I feel at the moment" and such a constant questioning will influence their future behaviors (Hassenzahl, 2008, p. 2).

Scapin et al. (2012) have found that the concept of *User Experience* has become important in the marketplace in relation to new computer devices, mobiles, and tablets. Hassenzahl (2008) asserted that *User Experience* is "a momentary, primarily evaluative feeling (good-bad) while interacting with a product or service" (p. 1). If the "product or service" is defined as an online product or service, the concept of user experiences here will be much more specific. Prilla and Ritterskamp (2008) believe that the characteristics of Web 2.0 should include three aspects: very simple usage, immediate feedback and structural level, and valuing each user's contributions. Prilla and Ritterskamp's explanation develops the definition of what good user experiences should be.

In the technology domain or Internet area, good user experiences make web users have satisfying perceptions and make them stay on a series of webpages longer (IBM Corporation, 2008). Such behaviour is related to the other concept, which is called "stickiness." Rouse (2005) cited the definition of stickiness as "anything about a Web site that encourages a visitor to stay longer" (para. 1). As well, Rouse explained the term "sticky" by describing the web visitors behaviours of tending to "stay for a long time and to return (para. 1). Lin (2007) defined stickiness as "the users' willingness to return to and prolong his/her duration of stay on a website" and it measures the ability of websites "to draw and retain web users to keep revisiting the websites" (pp. 507-508).

Stickiness is measureable through quantitative data sources which assess the "form of frequency of visits, number of unique visitors, and length of time on the site" or anything about a website or a webpage that can encourage a visitor to visit more frequently and stay longer (Rouse, 2009). Many recent studies focus on how to understand the web users' intention to keep revisiting a website "since it is believed that web users' willingness to return is a strong indicator of web users' loyalty" (Lin, 2007, p. 508). Therefore many profitable companies make considerable efforts to keep web users stay on the websites as long as possible, and as a result, Web users become much stickier to the websites and their staying duration is prolonged greatly.
However, research also shows that it is not easy to make a "good" website that will "unquestionably influence customer's willingness to stick with it" (Lin, 2007, p. 508). According to Lin (2007), there are several factors that might influence the web users' stickiness: (a) users' perception of the website value, (b) users' positive attitude towards a website, and (c) the trust toward the website. These factors are all "psychological status" (Lin, 2007, p. 508) and all represent the users' willingness. Meanwhile, they all rely on the information that the websites provide (which is called "content"), the format of the website (which refers to how user-friendly the website is), and website operation (how easy the site is to access).

Saha and Grover (2011) briefly explained the linkage among *User Experience*, stickiness, contributive web users, and Web 2.0. First of all, they argued that "a great user experience plays a vital role in making users come back again to the web service" and "Web 2.0 services are highly dynamic and proactive due to users' contribution and active participation towards its contents" (p. 16). Secondly, they emphasized that millions of users' contributions eventually lead the website to attain a state of higher relevance. Thirdly, they pointed out that collaboration is an important process of extracting useful content from a content provider website and displaying it on some other website. The content being regularly checked and updated by concerned users or content providers, the information provided is of good quality; Wikipedia is a good example of collaboration (Saha & Grover, 2011).

Alben (1996) suggested criteria for designing effective interaction and summarizes the features of websites that can provide people with a successful and satisfying experience. According to him, these qualities include understanding of users, effective design process, and content that is needed, learnable and usable, appropriate, aesthetically pleasing, mutable, and manageable.

Summary

A review of the literature related to the parent–school relationship revealed the following features of successful and effective parent–school interaction. Successful and effective parent–school interaction should meet parents' requirements of improving children's personal development. Parents always have expectations of their children's academic achievement and they always believe that it is their responsibility to take the primary responsibility for children's educational achievement, as well as share responsibility and the common goals with teachers to help their children to achieve most efficiently and effectively

Another feature of successful and effective parent–school interaction is for the school boards to provide significant opportunities for parents to contribute meaningfully to school decisions so that they affect learning. Parents feel comfortable when the school provides a welcoming, friendly, and inviting atmosphere and implement useful strategies to enhance parent–school relationship (Graham-Clay, 2005; Huseth, 2001; McKenna & Willms, 1998; Parent Involvement Committee, 2012).

Social networking among parents and communities is helpful for providing and sharing information either from schools or from communities. Such a connection can help parents to understand some difficult situations and handle them successfully (Brien & Stelmach, 2009; Hill & Taylor, 2004).

Successful and effective parent-school relationships can stimulate parents' desire to be actively engaged. The desire of parents who are willing to be involved in their children's education experience is a very significant component of effective parent– school relationships; however it is true that not all parents acquire enough knowledge and strategies to do so. From parents' perspectives, a successful and effective parent–school interaction does not refer to serving the school when being asked or expected to do so by the school administrators. Parent–school interaction should involve authority being shared by educators and parents, where decisions are mutually determined and mutually beneficial (Carter, 2002; Gianzero, 1999; Pushor, 2007).

The literature on parent–school communication also highlights two categories for describing the relationship: progress and attitudes. Progress in parent–school communication refers to the degree to which there is active communication by the parent with the school. These three degrees described in the literature are: parental participation, parental involvement, and parental engagement.

In terms of attitudes, parents may exhibit passive and active attitudes. A combination of the progress stages and attitudes suggest that there are six possible dimensions or types of parents–school communication, namely: passive parental participation; passive parental involvement; passive parental engagement; active parental participation; active parental involvement; and active parental engagement. Ideally, active parental engagement is the best way for enhancing students' outcomes. Hence, how school boards can encourage parents to adopt active parental engagement is significant.

The literature review shows that effective design of websites is crucial to keep users online. Web 2.0 technology has a number of features that promote its use in developing parent–school relationships. The most noted advantages of Web 2.0 features that offer opportunities for interaction among users and website creators are through online information sharing and online social networking for communication tools such as email, Facebook, voice and video communications, chat rooms, instant messaging, online forums, online discussion lists, online news feeds, and microblogs (e.g., Twitter). These design features on school-board websites will promote parents as web users to acquire better user experiences. Parents' satisfaction with their user experiences will improve their stickiness on the school boards' websites, which means they will spend more time on these websites and thus contribute to and benefit more from the websites. Stickiness results from features of a web site that encourage a visitor to stay longer. A website is considered sticky if it offers rich interactive experiences and it makes a visitor tend to stay for a long time and to return. Positive contribution and benefits will enhance parent–school relationships as well as stimulate parents' desire to be actively engaged.

Ultimately, this paper is trying to build a concept of a Web 2.0-based interactive platform for encouraging active parental engagement so that parent–school communication can be enhanced.

CHAPTER THREE: FRAMEWORK AND METHODS

In this study, technological approaches were emphasized and adopted to enhance active parental engagement in order to establish an effective way of communication for parents and schools in Ontario. The study conducted a conceptual analysis of the features and abilities of Web 2.0 technologies, and proposed a conceptual framework of criteria and features for designing Web 2.0-based websites as interactive platforms that enhance parent–school communication in the Ontario context. Also, this framework was used to analyze the websites of two school boards in Ontario to examine their application of Web 2.0 technologies as social interaction instruments for parent–school relationships. In this chapter, I briefly introduce the approach of conceptual analysis that I used to understand the main constructs of effective parent–school relationships and Web 2.0, the specific process I undertook to develop the conceptual framework of the features of a successful Web 2.0 website for the purpose of interaction, how I applied the framework to analyze three samples of school boards/schools' websites in Ontario area, and how I developed the criteria to assess parents' experiences as users.

Method of Conceptual Analysis

This project adopted conceptual analysis as the methodology. Furner (2004) defined conceptual analysis as:

a technique that treats concepts as classes of objects, events, properties, or relationships. The technique involves precisely defining the meaning of a given concept by identifying and specifying the conditions under which any entity or phenomenon is (or could be) classified under the concept in question. (p. 233) The goal is to break down concepts/ideas into subcategories and understand the relationships among them to get a better understanding of the concepts and relationships among concepts. I began the conceptual analysis with a broad examination of the literature to identify the conditions and sub-ideas related to the two concepts: effective parent–school relationship, and Web 2.0 websites for the purpose of social interaction. To clarify these concepts, I immersed myself in various journals and works that related to Web technology and parent–school relationship. In subsequent readings, I established the connection among multiple sub-concepts such as the notion of user experiences, stickiness, social interaction, and types of parent–school communication. Then, I analyzed the logical relationship between the application of Web 2.0 technology in the education domain and parent–school relationship and presented these relationships in Chapter 2.

Thereafter, I identified the conditions necessary for using a Web 2.0-based interactive platform and developed a framework of criteria to analyze and design a parent–school communication tool for application within the present educational context of Ontario. Specifically, I established the criteria to evaluate whether a certain website is adapting the application of Web 2.0 technology to users' interactive experiences in order to strengthen the relationship between users and website creators. This framework is presented in below.

Rationale to Establish the Framework

In the context of this project, parents can be considered as users. Here I define users as a group of individuals who use the web services offered by the website creators, which are school boards. The function of using the web as a tool for communicating with

37

parents is twofold. For one thing, it is a positive method for school boards to establish effective communication with parents. For another thing, parents can be involved actively. Therefore, to achieve this purpose, parents' experiences and the degree of how they are satisfied with the web services is very important. Hence, one of the ways to encourage active parental engagement is by using websites and empowering their online stickiness. Furthermore, users' online stickiness relies on the user experiences and the degree of satisfaction in the online services; and one of the most significant factors that influence good user experiences and high degree of satisfaction is the interactivity of the website.

Features of Web 2.0 Website for the Purpose of Interaction

In chapter 2, I summarized the features of Web 2.0-based websites. According to the literature, the main features of successful Web 2.0-based websites are generalized in the literature as: (a) a platform for applications and information sharing; (b) generally user-oriented as a tool for social interaction and collaboration; and (c) as communication tool. Take those online business websites like Facebook or Amazon as examples; at the Facebook and Amazon websites, users are the core of the websites and all the online activities are undertaken to satisfy users. At the latter websites, users create and share information, as well as communicate with each other. Given that the websites of school and school boards are the providers of educational services and the parents are the users, the degree to which the parents are engaged can be shown by their online behaviour. I therefore identified features of Web 2.0 as outlined in the literature review that would increase parent interaction and user collaboration and enhance stickiness are social

networking features (e.g. Facebook), voice and video communications, chat rooms, instant messaging, online forums, online discussion lists, online news feeds, and microblogs (e.g., Twitter).

Table 1 provides a framework of Web 2.0 features that promote interaction in terms of the degree of social interaction they promote. For example, a low level of interactivity is characterized by features such as email and newsletters which are mainly used to communicate information to parents. A high level of interactivity on websites is characterized by features such as social networking and blogging tools (e.g., Facebook and Twitter) that promote synchronous and asynchronous communication and social interactions among parents and between parents and schools.

Criteria to Assess Parents' Experiences as Users

Aside from the framework of Web 2.0 features, some specific questions should also be considered when examining the websites. These questions are related to user experiences from parents' perspectives. From this perspective, these questions are:

- How do parents feel about these websites when they are using the website as both users and parents?
- Are they satisfied with the school boards' websites?
- Do these websites care about parents' feelings when they experience the websites, so parents' interest can actively engage?

Since this study is limited to analyzing the external features of websites to assess their ability to promote social interaction, other criteria are required that assess the websites for ways in which websites are designed to cater to the needs of users (in this case users refers to parents).

Level Description Features Email access Have access to email to a certain people Newsletter A regularly distributed electronic publication that sent via email or posted on webpage Lower level of External link Hyperlinks that redirect the websites to any domain other than the domain the link exists on (source) interactivity RSS A publish format that allows user to quickly access frequently updated content from the websites with convenience, such as entries, news headlines, audio, and videos. It is usually illustrated by an orange logo with the three curved bars. Comments Users make comments based on the posted contents Users have the right to share internal or external Share button resources Instant message Users have the access to talk with other uses or even the Medium level of web administrators directly interactivity Polls Users have access to make polls on a certain topic Ranking Users have access to rank a certain service An access that allows users to have real-time online Chat room chat and virtual interaction with other Social Users have access to make friends and have social networking connection with other users Users have access to post blogs, as well as read and Blog High level of make comments on other users' blog interactivity Users have access to establish a discuss group as well as Forum response about a certain topic Micro Blog Users have access to post short blog as well as read and make comments on other users' blog

Features of a Successful Web 2.0 Website for the Purpose of Interaction

Alben (1996) addressed the criteria for designing effective interaction of websites so that users have successful and satisfying experiences. The criteria were: understanding of users, effective design process, needed, learnable and usable, appropriate, aesthetically pleasing, mutable, and manageable. Prilla and Ritterskamp (2008) also suggested that user experiences were enhanced by websites that included three aspects: very simple usage, immediate feedback and structural level, and valuing each user's contributions.

For the purpose of my study, I derived criteria to evaluate if the schools' websites provide successful and satisfying experiences for parents by drawing on the literature on user experiences mentioned above and adapting them for the purposes of parent–school communication. The criteria included: (a) understanding parents' needs, (b) learnable and usable, (c) valuing parents contributions, and (d) immediate feedback to parents.

The notion of "understanding of users" refers to how well the school boards as website creators understand the parents' needs. For example, since literature indicates that parents' needs are largely related to their children's academic achievements, the criteria for assessing whether the school board understands the parents denotes that in order to respond to parents' needs of establishing social networking with other parents, school boards should provide a platform for them. The notion of "learnable and usable" refers to whether the websites are easy to navigate and use. To be specific, how well does the website support and allow for the different ways parents will approach and use it, "considering their various levels of experience, skills and strategies for problem solving" (Alben, 1996, p. 15). The notion of "valuing parents' contributions" refers to considering all aspects of parents' interaction as users with the school boards' websites and enabling their experiences to allow for more and better possible interaction (Scapin et al. 2012).

The notion of "immediate feedback to parents" refers to a convenient way for parents to receive feedback from schools and school boards.

Application of Conceptual Framework

I selected three school boards, which are: District School Board of Niagara (DSBN), Ottawa-Carleton District School Board (OCDSB), and Toronto District School Board (TDSB). The websites were analyzed based on two main concepts: the application of Web 2.0 and the parents' experiences as web users. Findings will be presented graphically with tables as well as discussed.

Criteria for Selecting the School Boards

Criteria for selecting the school boards were based on the size of the school district. Based on data posted on the websites, I picked three of the largest school boards in Ontario. According to its website, the DSBN

operates 95 elementary schools and 20 secondary schools in the 12 municipalities that make up the Niagara Region. We are proud to serve over 38,000 students (24,600 elementary and 14,850 secondary) each year. The DSBN is governed by a Board of 11 elected trustees. (DSBN, 2013, para.7)

The OCDSB's website indicates the board is "the largest school board in Eastern Ontario serving students within a 2,760 square kilometer area known as the city of Ottawa" and "the seventh largest board by school population in the province of Ontario"; its students "are based out of 147 schools—116 elementary including two special education sites, 26 secondary including the Adult High School, and 5 secondary alternate sites" (OCDSB, n.d., para. 4).

Criteria for Enhanced Parents' Experiences on School Board Websites

Criteria	Key questions for website analysis of user experiences
Understanding parents needs	Do the school board websites understand parents' needs? Do the school board websites support parents to assist students' learning so that parents can get positive experiences of meeting their expectation of their children's academic achievement as well as improving children's personal development by using the websites? For example, there should be an access for parents to know what their children learn at school and how the teachers instruct their children. Parents should have access to teachers' teaching contents like PowerPoint or other presentations posted online so they can assist their children.
Learnable and usable	Are the websites easy to navigate and use? For example, is the webpage simple with a toolbar with clear links? Is the language used suitable for parents to understand? Do school boards consider whether parents are new immigrants to Canada or whether they are English as the second language speakers and offer some tools like Google Translation tools to make the website easy to use?
Valuing parents' contributions	Are the websites helpful to establish linkage or social networking between school boards and parents as well as the community? For example, do parents have access to communicate with other parents by online applications such parent discussion forums or blogs? Do the websites provide access for parents to post feedback on the contents of the website?
Immediate feedback to parents	Do websites enable parents to get immediate responses to their feedback? For example, parents provide feedback and get responses through instant messaging.

The TDSB it is the "largest school Board in Canada and one of the largest in North America. We have nearly 600 schools and serve more than 250,000 students each year" (TDSB, 2013, para. 1). Overall, among the three schools, there is access for parents in the homepage of each of their websites. Three of them use "parents" as the name of the button and one is using "for parents." No matter what terms they are using, it is clear that the parents are led to the webpage for parents.

Before evaluating the websites of the school boards, I assumed that one of the purposes for school boards developing such websites is to make parents involved. The reason that I made this assumption is because all the websites of the school boards provide access to parents.

Procedures for Analysis of Websites

The analysis for the school board websites included the following procedures:

- I reviewed all of the websites of the school boards in Ontario.
- Among the websites, I selected those for three school boards in Ontario and examined the webpages for parents using the criteria I had developed. Each website was analyzed for the presence or absence of criteria and the degree to which it promoted active parent engagement.
- I used the *Features of a Successful Web 2.0 Website for the Purpose of Interaction* and *Criteria for Enhanced Parents' Experience on School Board Websites* framework to evaluate the websites I selected. The purpose was to examine whether the websites have the features of Web 2.0 promoting social interaction.

Chapter 4 summarizes the results of the analysis of the school boards websites.

No. of No. of Designation Board Website schools students Largest school board District 115 38,000 www.dsbn.edu.on.ca in Eastern Ontario School Board of Niagara (DSBN) Seventh largest board 147 Over Ottawawww.ocdsb.ca/ab-ocdsb by school population 73,000 Carleton in Ontario District School Board (OCDSB) Toronto www.tdsb.on.ca Largest school board Nearly 250,000 District in Canada and one of 600 the largest in North School Board (TDSB) America

Basic Information of the Three School Boards

CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS

In this chapter, I present the results of the analysis of three school board websites in Ontario to assess the degree to which the websites promoted parent–school engagement and communication. I analyzed the selected websites with the framework, *Features of a Successful Web 2.0 Website for the Purpose of Interaction* and *Criteria for Enhanced Parents' Experience on School Board Websites* developed in the previous chapter. Some snapshots of the existing features on the school board websites are provided in the appendices to support my interpretations.

Application of Framework of Web 2.0 Features in the School Boards' Websites

In this section I present the results of the analysis of how the school board websites used Web 2.0 features for promoting interaction with parents. For each school board, I used the criteria from the *Features of a Successful Web 2.0 Website for the Purpose of Interaction* to interpret the degree to which the websites showed evidence of low, medium, and high level of interaction.

District School Board of Niagara (DSBN)

The DSBN website was first analyzed for features promoting low levels of interaction. There was email access for the purpose of contact with all the schools or the related departments of the school boards. There was also a message system for users to leave messages. This was important because according to my research, email access did not work when the user's device had no default email system like Microsoft Outlook. Therefore the message system was helpful for communication. There were also newsletters released. The title of the newsletter is shown and when clicked, it presented the PDF version, which was easy for reading and saving. There were also external links on the website, such as the link to the EQAO site as shown in Table 4 and as shown in Appendix B. An RSS Feed button was shown on the homepage. However, compared to the website of OCDSB, the RSS icon on the DSBN website was relatively small and there was no instruction for using RSS Feed. Therefore if the users had no RSS Feed Reader, they would not have been able to experience RSS. These features were evidence of low levels of interactivity.

With regard to medium level of interactivity (see Table 5), the DSBN website partly had the function of making comments. Owing to the fact that most of the contents were posted as static webpages or documents, there was hardly any access to comments. However, several webpages were linked to Facebook which allowed users to follow or "like." The static files and most of the webpages were not available for sharing and only a few pages were available to be shared in multiple ways by the Share button. The other four features of medium level interactivity (Instant Message, Polls, Ranking, and Chat room) were not shown on the DSBN website. There were very few or no features on the website that matched the features for high levels of interaction (see Table 8). The feature of social networking largely relied on external social networking tools like Facebook or Twitter to establish their social networking system. And there was no access for users to set blogs or enter a chat room to have online communication.

Ottawa-Carleton District School Board (OCDSB)

The website of the OCDSB school board basically implemented features of the lower level of interactivity. There was email access for the purpose of contact with all the schools or the related departments of the school boards. However, the email access was largely directed to the email address or Communications and Information Services.

47

Amplication of	Wah 20 Eag	trunga in Diatai	A Calcal Daged	of Migogue	Walacita
ADDIICATION OF	<i>wed 2.0 rea</i>	tures in Distric	л эспоог Боаға	or magara	websile
i pp nounon oj	1100 210 1 00		i senteer betild	0,1,10,80,0	ii cobiic

Lower level of interactivity			
Email access	There is email access for parents to contact with all the schools directly, as well as the related departments of the school boards. Users can also fill in the contact form to leave messages.		
Newsletter	There is a particular section "Newsroom" that offers a collection of useful information including news releases and background documents to help parents get resources for up-to-date news and information from around Niagara. The information is presented as individual only-read PDF files. Readers don't have any access to make comments.		
External link	In the "Parent" section, DSBN has an external link that links to EQAO http://www.eqao.com/. There is also a Facebook button and Twitter Button on the top of the home page. When clicked the link, it will direct to the Facebook or twitter page of the school board.		
RSS	There is RSS Feed button on the homepage.		

Users of the OCDSB website can also download schools and staff directory for getting the email address. This directory, however, was text-based thus it is not accessible for direct interaction via email. Users can also choose to join the constant contact system by entering their email address to sign up for OCDSB's mailing list. Once registered successfully, users will receive emails from OCDSB. Unlike DSBN, there is no messageleaving system for users to leave a message. Consequently, if the user's device does not have the default email system like Microsoft Outlook, the email access will not work. There are also newsletters released on the website of OCDSB. Compared to the website of DSBN, the news of OCDSB is released as read-only static web pages in the Media section. Readers or users don't have any access to make any comments. There are also external links on the website, such as the link to the Ottawa Network for Education site. An RSS feed button is shown on the homepage. The icon of the RSS is very noticeable (as shown in Appendix C and Appendix D). More importantly, there is instruction for using RSS Feed. Therefore, if the users have no knowledge about RSS Feed Reader, they will get information from the instruction, which makes using RSS Feed easier. These features were evidence of low levels of interactivity.

With regard to medium level of interactivity (see Table 5), the OCDSB website did not have the function of making comments on the contents. Owing to most of the contents being posted as static webpages or documents, there was no provision to make comments. For the feature of Sharing, the static files and most of the webpages were not available for sharing and only a few pages were available to be shared in multiple ways by the Share button. The other four features of medium level interactivity (Instant Message, Polls, Ranking, and Chat room) are not shown on the website of OCDSB. There were very few or no features on the website related to of high levels of interactivity (as shown in Table 8). The feature of Social networking largely relied on external social networking tools like Facebook or Twitter to establish their social networking system. And there was no access for users to set blogs or enter a chat room to have online communication.

Toronto District School Board (TDSB)

The TBSB website has changed considerably since I completed my research, and analysis is still based on my previous examination. Similar to the other two school boards' websites, the TDSB website also contained features of lower level of interactivity (see Table 6).There is email access for users to contact the TDSB head office. Parents can easily have email access to anyone in the school boards. Similarly to DSBN, the TDSB website also has a messaging system, presented as a contact form; the email access will still work if the user's device does not have default email system like Microsoft Outlook.

The TDSB website also includes newsletters. Unlike the other two websites, the TDSB news is shown in the "Media" instead of the "Parent" section and it is released as only-read web pages in Media section with links. Readers don't have any way to make comments. In the "Parent" section, there is no external link; all the links direct to internal webpages. However, there is Facebook button, Twitter Button, and YouTube. Clicking on these buttons directs the user to the Facebook or Twitter page of the school board. There is an RSS Feed button on the homepage as well and, similar to the DSBN website rather than OCDSB's, the RSS icon is relatively small and there is no instruction for using RSS Feed. Therefore if the users have no RSS Feed Reader, they will not be able to experience RSS. These features were evidence of low levels of interactivity.

Application of Web 2.0 Features in the Ottawa-Carleton District School Board Website

Lower level of interactivity			
Email access	There is an email link that link to Communications and Information Services. However it is on the "Contact us" section instead of in the "Parent" Section. There is NO email access in the "Parents" section. However, there is another email system for the school board to communicate with parents		
Newsletter	The news of OCDSB released as only-read static web page in Media section annually. Readers don't have any access to make any comments.		
External link	In the "Parent" section, there is no external link. All the links direct to internal webpages. However, there is Facebook button, Twitter Button, LinkedIn, YouTube. When click these buttons, they will direct to the Facebook or twitter page of the school board. On the website it also shows how to get iPhone application in Apple Store.		
RSS	There is RSS Feed button on the homepage and it is listed with other external link button.		

There are also newsletters released on the website of TDSB. Unlike the other two websites, the news of TDSB is shown in the "Media" section instead of the "Parent" section and it is released as only-read web pages in Media section with links. Readers don't have any way to make comments. In the "Parent" section, there is no external link. All the links direct to internal webpages. However, there is Facebook button, Twitter Button, and YouTube. When you click these buttons, they will direct you to the Facebook or twitter page of the school board. There is RSS Feed button on the homepage as well and, similar as the website of DSBN rather than OCDSB, the icon of RSS is relatively small and there is no instruction for using RSS Feed. Therefore if the users have no RSS Feed Reader, they will not be able to experience RSS. These features were evidence of low levels of interactivity.

With regard to medium level of interactivity (see Table 7), the TDSB website did not have the function of making comments on the contents. Owing to the fact that most of the contents were posted as static webpages or documents, there was hardly any access to comments. For the feature of sharing, the static files and most of the webpages were not available for sharing; only a few pages were available to be shared in multiple ways by the Share button. The other four features of medium level interactivity, Instant Message, Polls, Ranking, and Chat room, are not shown on the website of TDSB.

There were very few or no features on the website of high levels of interactivity as shown in Table 8. The feature of Social networking largely relied on external social networking tools like Facebook or Twitter to establish their social networking system. And there was no access for users to set blogs or enter chat room to have online communication.

Lower level of interactivity		
Email address	There is email access for users to contact with TDSB Headquarters. Parents can easily to have the email access to any one in school boards. There is also a contact form for users to leave their names, email address and messages, questions, even any concern.	
Newsletter	The news of TDSB is not shown in the "Media" section instead of the "Parent" section and it is released as only-read web pages in Media section with links. Readers don't have any access to make comments.	
External link	In the "Parent" section, there is no external link. All the links direct to internal webpages. However, there is Facebook button, Twitter Button, and YouTube. When click these buttons, they will direct to the Facebook or twitter page of the school board.	
RSS	There is RSS Feed button on the homepage	

Application of Web 2.0 Features in the Toronto District School Board Websites

	Medium level of interactivity			
	School board			
Features	DSBN	OCDSB	TDSB	
Comments	The contents posted are largely static webpages or documents which don't have the access to make comments. Several webpages are linked to Facebook which allow user to follow.	The contents posted are largely static webpages or documents which don't have the access to make comments.	The contents posted are largely static webpages or documents which don't have the access to make comments.	
Sharing	The static files and most of the webpages are not available for sharing. Only a few pages are available to be shared by the share button. It can be shared in multiple ways like print or via email.	The static files and most of the webpages are not available for sharing. All the static PDF or Word documents can be saved directly.	The static files and most of the webpages are not available for sharing. All the static PDF or Word documents can be saved directly.	
Instant Message	None of them have web-based instant message system.			
Polls	None of them have access to the make polls on a certain topic service.			
Ranking	None of them have access to rank a certain topic or service.			
Chat room	None of these school boards has designed the function of Chat room as a communication tools.			

Medium Level of Interactivity of Web 2.0 Features in the Three Websites

Higher Level of Interactivity of Web 2.0 Features in the Three Websites

High level of interactivity			
	School board		
Features	DSBN	OCDSB	TDSB
Social networking	All the websites rely on ex Twitter to establish their s	kternal social networking to ocial networking system.	ools like Facebook or
Blog	There is no access for parents to create their own blog as a user so that they can share information with other users.		
Forum	None of the school boards have access to build a semi-open forum for establishing discussion groups, online chatting room as well as response about a certain topic.		

Summary of Findings for Features of Web .20

The main findings of the current use of the three school boards to use Web 2.0 technologies as a communication instrument in the selected websites of the school boards in Ontario were:

- All the selected school boards use the websites for information delivery instead of sharing and interactive platform. What I found was the school boards have put great efforts on establishing the websites to serve as many people as possible who are involved, including teachers, students and parents. Considering parents diverse needs, school boards are meeting their need for information.
- Most of the school boards have the ability to provide lower level Web 2.0 technologies as communication instruments, for example, email application.
 Anyone can email the school board without jumping off the website. Some school boards have the capacity for using medium level Web 2.0 technologies as communication instruments, for example, sharing information. But few of them demonstrated the capacity for using higher level Web 2.0 technologies as a communication instrument.
- All three school boards currently use offline methods of communication for parent-school relationship such as parents meetings or phone calls as well as some other activities. According to the announcements posted on the websites, school boards encourage parents to go and participate in the offline activities; specifically, the real meeting or face-to-face conversation instead of also using the Web 2.0 based instant message system like Skype or MSN for communication.

• All three school boards have Facebook and Twitter pages and the buttons are shown on the homepage which can help anyone who views the websites to jump to the schools' Facebook. What's more, if users have their own Facebook or twitter account, they can follow the school boards; make comments, and any other behaviors that are allowed in cyber worlds. However, it should be noted that Facebook or Twitter are mass media, which means all the information on them is open to the public. The web pages indicate that existing school boards rely on the external and public Web 2.0 services such as Facebook, Twitter, and YouTube as the most essential interactive ways with parents instead of using their own application

Analysis of Parents' Experiences as Users

Successful and effective parent–school relationships rely on parents' desire to engage with the school board, therefore an important issue for school boards to solve is how to arouse and stimulate parents' desire so they have more impetus to participate in their children's education. In chapter 3, I developed criteria to assess user experiences to arouse and stimulate parents' desire to remain on websites. The following section shows the results of the analysis of parents' experiences as users within the school boards I examined.

DSBN

Understanding parents' needs. DSBN offers several webpages of different programs like Alternative Education Program Guide and Directory, Cooperative Education, ESL program, and so on. Also, it offers a webpage for eLearning programs which provides students with additional online courses, Ontario Educational Resource Bank, and Homework Help. According to the web page, "the course teachers will provide assessment opportunities and feedback in a timely manner as they monitor student progress in the course by regular interaction with each student" (DSBN, 2013, para. 1); and "through the DSBN's Homework Help network, students can get free, real-time math tutoring by certified Ontario teachers" (DSBN, 2013, para.1). Among all the webpages that can help students' learning, only one webpage offers interactive features and others basically post information that is updated as needed. There are multiple resources or information on programs to meet parent's diverse needs. For example, information on Adult and Community Education, welcome information for parents who are newcomers, and information for parents who have special needs children are available.

Learnable and usable. According to the content on the DSBN website, the webpages provide a welcoming, friendly, and inviting atmosphere for parents. The design of the DSBN website was simple and clear (see Appendices A and B). Such simple and clear designing is easy for parents to navigate and find the links or resources they need. The website also had a search tool bar which makes parents have quick access to the information they need. There are no language options for parents to choose. Therefore there might be challenges for parents who are English as the second language speakers to navigate the website. For some features like RSS Feed, there is no corresponding instruction, which makes parents feel challenged when they are not sure about how to use such an application. These challenges may result in parents failing to obtain good user experiences.

Valuing parents contributions. I examined the website of DSBN to see whether it supported the establishing of social connections. As I stated in the previous analysis,

DSBN has linked with external social networking tools like Facebook and Twitter. Through the Facebook and Twitter link, parents can have access for establishing linkage or social networking with school boards as well as interact with school boards. Via Facebook or Twitter link, parents who already have a Facebook account can follow or "like" the school board based on the content school boards post. More importantly, parents can make comments. However, parents don't have any access to establishing online social networking with other parents. There is no access for the parents to communicate, discuss or send messages or even emails to each other. Consequently, parents' contribution largely relies on whether they can access other parents and the school board by Facebook and Twitter account. For those parents who do not have Facebook and Twitter account, their contribution is not being valued and the user experiences may not be positive.

Immediate feedback to parents. The website of DSBN does not provide access for parents to post feedback on the contents of the website; neither does it enable them to get immediate responses. When parents adopt the email system or message system, it is not quite guaranteed that they can get responses from the persons they write to. Also, it cannot be guaranteed that their voice could be heard. Such non-instant communication may minimise parents' positive user experiences.

OCDSB

Understanding parents' needs. There is a hyperlink leading to the website of a free online tutoring service which is available to all students in secondary school. Parents can help their children do homework when they are not sure about the answers. This website offers certified teachers in multiple subjects like Math, English, and Science and

these teachers are available for one-on-one confidential, online help most of the time during the week. The function of this website is providing information so that parents can easily get access to the professional homework help website. Once parents know there is a professional website that can assist students in doing homework, according to general Internet use habits, they usually launch the professional websites directly instead of launching the school board's website. They then jump to the professional website. The website of OCDSB also offers links to the website of Grades 3 and 6 EQAO testing. When parents click the hyperlink, they go to the Education Quality and Assessment. Parents actually do not have to stay on the website of OCDSB for a long time; they even do not have to launch this website very frequently. The way the website is constructed (links to other resources), would seem to drive users to leave the OCDSB site thereby reducing stickiness. However, this way of website design is also effective to encourage parents to stay on the website because they only need to log on the website of OCDSB rather than remembering a great number of other website domains.

Learnable and usable. The web page of the "Parents" section of OCDSB's website is a very clear design. Parents can easily find the information they need to support their child in learning such as finding a school, registration information for school or a specialized program, finding an extended day program, information on how to get involved in children's' learning, and the school council. All the related items are listed on the left sidebar in a clear understandable way (see Appendix D). More importantly, as mentioned previously, there is instruction for some applications like RSS Feed and iPhone App. Therefore if the users have no knowledge about RSS Feed Reader or iPhone App, they will get information from the instruction, which makes using RSS Feed and iPhone App easier.

Valuing parents' contributions. I examined the website of OCDSB as to whether it provided access to establishing social connections. As I stated in the analysis in the previous section, OCDSB has linked with external social networking tools like Facebook and Twitter. Compared to the other two websites that I examined, OCDSB has more external social networking applications than the other two school boards. According to the website, OCSB have five social networking applications. Similar to the issues that other two websites have, the contributions of parents who do not have Facebook and Twitter account is not being valued and the user experiences may not be positive. Meanwhile, OCDSB has a "mailing list" system which may help enhance parent-school relationship. Users can choose to join their constant contact system by entering users' email address to sign up for OCDSB's mailing list. Once registered successfully, users will receive emails from OCDSB constantly. However, this system can only ensure parents hear from school instead of parents' voice being heard.

Immediate feedback to parents. Likewise, the website of OCDSB does not provide access for parents to post feedback on the contents of the website; neither does it enable them to get immediate responses. When parents adopt the email system or message system, it is not quite guaranteed that they can get responses from the persons they write to. It cannot be guaranteed that their voice could be heard. Such non-instant communication may fail to bring parents positive user experiences.

TDSB

Understanding parents' needs. On the webpage of TDSB, parents were divided

into two groups, parents of elementary students and parents of secondary school students. The contents are distinguished based on the difference of the two groups. For the purpose of improving students' academic achievement, there is a link that leads to the webpage of homework. This webpage includes four items: (a) Homework Policy, (b) Homework Tips for Grades 1 to 8, (c) Homework Policy Translation in 13 Languages, and (d) Homework Roles. Homework Policy is a static online PDF document to introduce the homework policy of TDSB. Homework Tips for Grades 1 to 8 shows the contents of how to help children with their homework. The tips are presented as text, while there are extra links of resources which help parents to work with their children in homework. The extra links to the webpage lead to English and math learning activities for students in Grades 1 to 8. When parents click this link, it goes to a website that has a number of learning activities for English and Mathematics which were developed by the TDSB. Although all these online activities are available as PDF files, parents still can get useful information from these files.

Learnable and usable. Because the website was designed according to the students' age group, parents can easily get access to useful information based on their children's age (see Appendix E). The website also has a search tool bar which makes parents have quick access to the information they need. Also, considering the multi-cultural situation in the Toronto area, some webpages adopt multiple language options (see Appendix F). This makes navigating the website less challenging for parents who are English as the second language speakers.

Valuing parents contributions. TDSB is also linked to external social networking tools like Facebook and Twitter. Compared to the other two websites that I

examined, TDSB has less external social networking applications than the other two school boards. There are no features for the parents to communicate, discuss or send messages to each other. Therefore parents have a lesser chance to have social connections with other parents, which may minimize parents' collaborative contributions to education.

Immediate feedback to parents. Likewise, the website of TDSB does not provide access for parents to post feedback on the contents of the website; neither does it enable them to get immediate responses. When parents adopt the email system or message system, it is not quite guaranteed that they can get responses from the persons they write to, which may result in a lowering of parents' positive user experiences.

Summary of Main Findings of Parents' Experiences as Users

The main findings of parents' experiences as users were:

- All the websites evaluated in this project support parents as they assist students' learning in multiple ways. Some offer an internal resource system like the online library and some offer external access through links to other online learning assisting websites so that students can either have tutoring or have shared resources. Such features will bring parents positive experiences because this meets their expectation of supporting their children's academic achievement as well as improving children's personal development by using the websites.
- All the websites evaluated in this project show a welcoming, friendly, and inviting atmosphere as well as implement useful online strategies for supporting parents to be involved with the schools' activities besides teaching and learning. Even if it is not easy to evaluate how welcoming and inviting it is, it is obvious that the school

boards are considering parents' multiple needs and considering the diversity of the parents. For example some school boards have the particular information for parents who are new immigrants, or for parents who are non-English speakers.

According to the analysis of parents' experiences as users, three dominant findings emerged concerning parents' experiences as web users. These three themes were: (a) users' needs are satisfied; (b) websites are easy to access and use; and (c) there is need for social collaboration

Users' Needs Are Satisfied

As web users, the most basic needs of parents in using of the website of school boards are twofold: obtaining information and assistance, and involvement in their children's learning process. From this perspective, the evaluated schools all met parents' needs. All the three school boards have platforms parents can use to understand their children's learning, and more importantly, all the three schools post necessary information on the website. Therefore, theoretically, parents' needs are satisfied.

Easy to Access and Use

All of the school boards' websites reflect features of Web.1.0 technology; all the content is largely read-only webpages or static documents. Technically, the majority of parents would consider the sites to have easy access unless the parents have some idea of the differences between Web 1.0 and Web 2.0.

Need for Access to Social Collaboration Tools

Based on the analysis, parents as web users do not have the access to engage in social collaboration to contribute to education policy and practice. Their user experiences are built upon individual browsing without sufficient opportunity to have interactivity.

According to my findings, there is no external evidence on the websites that school boards provide parents with the opportunity to establish social connections with other parents or social networking between school boards and parents as well as the community.

CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION

Education is not only about schools and school boards but also parents. Although considerable research shows the significance of enhancing parent–school relationships, there is little discussion about specific strategies of how to do this. In the current digital age, the power of using Web 2.0 as a tool to encourage people to stick on the websites to improve parent-school relationships would benefit students, their families, and schools (Center for the Study of Education Policy, 2004). My interest in this project was initiated after browsing many websites of the school and school boards in Ontario and finding that the websites lacked features promoting social interaction among parents, schools, and school boards via Web 2.0 applications. The purpose of this study was to explore the current use of technological approaches, especially Web 2.0 technology, to enhance active parent-school relationships in the Ontario context. The rationale for my study was prompted by the broad question: since considerable research and practice indicated Web 2.0 is an effective instrument that supports people in becoming involved in social interactions, how can school boards implement Web 2.0 to enhance parent-school relationships to benefit education?

This conceptual analysis was guided by three questions:

- 1. How is Web 2.0 technologies currently used for purposes of encouraging communication among users?
- 2. As a communication tool, how can Web 2.0 technologies enhance active parental engagement so as to establish an interactive way of communication for parents and schools in an Ontario context?

3. How are Ontario school boards currently using Web 2.0 technologies for parent–school board communication?

Summary of the Project

These questions above were addressed by reviewing the literature and conducting a conceptual analysis of two concepts: parent–school relationships and Web 2.0 technology for social interaction. The literature indicated that a Web 2.0 application can serve as effective communication tools to promote user-oriented Web 2.0 contents. As well, Web 2.0 technologies provide good user experiences because all the contents can be added, removed, revised, and reorganized by the users (in my project, parents). More importantly, Web 2.0 technologies offer the possibility for people to adopt it as an interactive platform for the enhancement of social life. Based on this conceptual analysis, I derived features of school board websites that could be used to engage parents through social interaction. As well, a framework of features of Web 2.0 promoting interaction was developed to assess the design of school board websites.

Finally, I reviewed and adapted criteria from the literature to evaluate whether the websites were providing satisfying experiences for users, specifically parents using the board web site. The *Features of a Successful Web 2.0 Website for the Purpose of Interaction* and *Criteria* for *Enhanced Parents' Experience on School Board Websites* were used to analyze three Ontario school board websites to find out how they used Web 2.0 technologies for communication with parents and the degree to which they promoted active parent-school engagement. A summary and discussion of the main findings is presented below.
Discussion of Findings

According to the literature (Alexander, 2006; Anderson, 2007; Arnott & Bridgewater, 2002; Cormode & Krishnamurthy, 2008; Graham, 2005; Kaplan & Heinlein, 2010; Phipps, 2007), Web 2.0 technology provides the features of: (a) a platform for applications and information sharing; (b) generally user-oriented as a tool for social interaction and collaboration; and (c) a communication tool .

The analysis of the websites of three school boards in Ontario shows that:

- The three websites can be considered as platforms for information. All the three websites offer various types of information for meeting parents' needs.
- The three websites partly offer access to practice Web 2.0 applications such as communication tools .The three websites all have the ability to implement lower level of interactivity including email access, newsletters, external link and RSS Feed. Among the features above, email is the most popular way of communication. Email is an effective way for communication; however it cannot be considered as a prompt way of interaction and it does not ensure just-in-time feedback.
- As to medium and higher level of interactivity, they lack features for just-in-time interactions where parents contribute to content and policy development with the school boards.
- Parents as web users do not have the ability to generate content for or contribute to the websites, which will have a negative influence on their user experiences so as to decrease their stickiness. Such user experiences decrease the desire for parents to stay on the websites and even browse the websites. The consequence

will be that parents get less and less information which decreases interaction with the school.

• According to the literature (Law et al., 2009; Scapin et al., 2012), the unavailability of adopting Web 2.0 for websites will make users have a limited desire to stay on websites. For the school board websites, the lack of Web 2.0 features suggests that one of the consequences of limited social interactions might be parents gradually decreasing the time on the school board websites and only being involved with school in face-to face ways. For example, when announcements are posted, currently there is no way for school boards to recognize whether the information has reached the parents, not to mention recognizing the parents' ideas or reactions.

Saha and Grover (2011) and Lin (2007) stressed the significance of good user experiences, which allows users have the desire of staying on the websites longer and more frequently, contributing more as well as benefiting more. As web users, parents' satisfied with user experiences will improve their stickiness on the websites of the school boards, which means they will spend more and longer time on these websites so they will contribute to school board issues and benefit more from the information on the websites.

As website creators, the school boards offer very basic services such as how to find the school via a map/directions posted on the Internet, which, to some extent, can be considered as understanding of the parents' needs. However, according to the literature, parents have more needs such as social needs, which cannot be satisfied by the existing websites. When evaluating the type of information parents need on a website, the criteria is to examine whether the websites make a significant social, economic, or educational contribution. For this question, based on my analysis, the answer is positive. The evaluated three websites provide considerable information and resources that contribute to parent knowledge of education. Considering *the user experience* criteria of learnable and usable, there is no access for parents to have technological support for their levels of experience, skills, and strategies for technical problem solving. Therefore it is not possible for all the parents to use the websites as users. According to the literature, users who are exposed to a high percentage of good user experiences can be regarded as active users. In this study, parents who have good user experiences on the school websites can be regarded as actively engaging parents. Positive contribution and benefits enhance parent-school relationship as well as stimulate parents' desire to be actively engaged.

As stated in Iannetta's (2006) project, there are several barriers that may influence parents in their involvement with their children's education, including distance issues (the school may be far from their home), the time issue (parents might be working), and also personal experiences issues such as "parents don't feel welcomed at school" (p. 55). All these issues can possibly be solved by establishing a Web 2.0-based interactive platform. For example, given there is a Web 2.0-based interactive platform, parents do not have to worry about the distance and time issues because Internet access allows them to use the web services anytime and anywhere, which means parents can be involved in education all the time. The Web 2.0-based social networking may also makes parents feel very welcomed. All these strategies are very effective in simulating parental desire to engage in education, promoting active parent involvement.

Implications for Practice

Currently in Ontario, websites are widely used by the school boards. The findings indicated that the school boards have the ability to implement Web 2.0-based applications to improve the parent–school relationship. The analysis also showed that the school boards have increased understanding of the specific needs of parents. The analysis further indicates that there is still a gap in relation to communication and interaction between the school boards and the parents' needs. School boards could use Web 2.0 tools much more effectively as a strategy for promoting effective parents–school communication. There is no doubt that face-to-face communication is a very important part of the relationship. However, boards could implement multiple ways of interacting with parents, not only by continuing to use traditional ways to interact with parents through telephone calls, voice mail, and parents' meetings, but also by adopting Web 2.0 technologies to meet parent's needs. Such changes could lead to increased interactions between parents and schools and parents and parents, and improve parents' desire to be involved online. Some strategies that can be adapted for implementation are:

• Providing parents with opportunities to contribute to content development such as resources for other parents on the website. The webmaster should provide access to parents to post the content by themselves. Therefore these contents can be updated by users (parents) constantly and will encourage increasing number of parents to join in to create the content of the website, thereby improving their stickiness on the websites. When parents share more and gain more, they have more initiative for communicating with schools, and parent involvement will gradually develop to parental engagement.

Those features of higher levels of Web 2.0-based application such as Blogs or
Forums can be used to promote active parent-school engagement. As mentioned
in the previous chapter, these features encourage parents to be stickier on the
websites, thereby they will be willing to engage in their children's education
actively and voluntarily. For example, the feature of Sharing will allow parents to
share the information they think useful with other parents. Likewise, the feature of
Comments will allow parents to express their thoughts or ideas about any contents
on the websites

These interactions will assist school boards with opportunities to hear parents' voices. A Web 2.0-based Internet platform can be considered an effective strategy to prompt and stimulate parental desire to communicate with schools actively.

Although administrators and school board leaders have an awareness of the new technological applications, they are still implementing websites with features at the lower level, which does not strongly support the development of active parent-school relationships. Therefore some training programs should be established for administrators and school board leaders which develop knowledge about utilization of Web 2.0 technologies as a tool for serving education. I believe that administrators and school board leaders who are willing to adopt the Web 2.0 communication tools to communicate with parents will promote parent-school partnership to develop more successfully.

Recommendations for Future Studies

Ideally, the implementation of Web 2.0 applications should be based on research and data related to Web users. For future research, it would be of great value to create a website that applied all the Web 2.0 applications for parent–school relationship and evaluate the effectiveness of this website by researching parents' experiences as users. Future research can use quantitative and qualitative methods to assess parents' experiences as web users. This would allow the researchers to have first-hand data to analyze web sites and make appropriate revisions based on users' needs. This project could be a collaborative effort with the school boards. In addition, continued research can be done to further develop the conceptual framework to evaluate how the Web 2. 0-based websites influence the parent–school relationship.

However, my project is based on conceptual analysis rather than grounded research. Therefore some concepts need to be explored further and deeper by conducting practical research methodology. For example, the question, "How do parents feel about these websites when they are using the website as both users and parents" can be designed as qualitative research to collect more in-depth perspectives about the use of websites to meet parental information needs and desires for social interaction and community building. Likewise, the question in my project, "Are they satisfied with the websites of the school board? " and "Do these websites care about parents' feeling when they experience the websites so parents' desire can be stimulated of active engagement?" also can be designed as a specific data-collecting based research.

Conclusion

This conceptual analysis study resulted in the development of a conceptual framework of features of Web 2.0 and a framework of criteria of parents' experiences as users for developing parent school websites promoting social interaction. According to this project, it is clear that an "effective two-way school-home communication" based on Web 2.0 is very necessary for bettering parent-school relationship in the digital age

(Longfellow, 2004, p. 81). Therefore, to foster active parent–school engagement, school boards should take advantage of the features of Web 2.0 to develop parent–school websites

The idea of applying Web 2.0 as a platform to enhance parent–school relationship is not an easy project and it requires many factors, such as the co-operation and collaboration of the members of the school community, as well as the financial support from the education administrators and government.

References

- Aghaei, S., Nematbakhsh, M. A., & Farsani, H. K. (2012). Evolution of the World Wide
 Web: From Web 1.0 to Web 4.0. *International Journal of Web & Semantic Technology*, 3(1), 1-10.
- Alben, L. (1996). Quality of experience: Defining the criteria for effective interaction design, *Interactions*, 3(3), 11-15.
- Alberta Education. (2011). Spotlight on parent engagement: What we've learned from AISI. Retrieved from http://education.alberta.ca/media/6591254/spotlight_on_parent_engagement_sept _2011.pdf
- Alexander, B. (2006). A new wave of innovation of teaching and learning. *Education Review*, *41*(2), 33-44.
- Ames, C. (1993). How school-to-home communications influence parent beliefs and perceptions. *Equity and Choice*, 9(3), 44-49.
- Anderson, P. (2007). *What is Web 2.0? Ideas, technologies and implications for education*. Retrieved from www.jisc.ac.uk/media/documents/techwatch/tsw0701b.pdf
- Antonelli, P. (2009). Make, share, find: Web 2.0 and informal learning. In P. R.
 Lowenthal, D. Thomas, A. Thai, & B. Yuhnke (Eds.), *The CU online handbook: Teach differently: Create and collaborate* (pp. 25-28). Raleigh, NC: Lulu.
- Arnott, D. C., & Bridgewater, S. (2002). Internet, interaction and implications for marketing. *Marketing Intelligence & Planning*, 20(2), 86-95.

- Bates, T. (2011). Understanding Web 2.0 and its implications for e-learning. In M. J. W.
 Lee & C. McLoughlin (Eds.), Web 2.0-based e-learning: Applying social informatics for tertiary teaching (pp. 21-42). Hershey, PA: Information Science.
- Beal, V. (2010). The difference between the Internet and World Wide Web. Webopedia. Retrieved from

http://www.webopedia.com/DidYouKnow/Internet/2002/Web_vs_Internet.asp

- Berthelsen, D., & Walker, S. (2008). Parents' involvement in their children's education. *Family Matters*, 79, 34-41.
- Bloch. J. (2002). Student/teacher interaction via email: The social context of Internet discourse. *Journal of Second Language Writing*, (11)2, 117-134.
- Brewer, W. R., & Kallick, B. (1996). Technology's promise for reporting student learning. In T. Guskey (Ed.), *Communicating student learning*: 1996 ASCD yearbook (pp. 178-187). Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- Brien, K., & Stelmach, B. L. (2009). Legal and cultural contexts of parent-teacher interactions: School councils in Canada. *International Journal About Parents in Education*, 3(1), 1-14.
- Carter, S. (2002). The impact of parent/family involvement of student outcomes: An annotated bibliography of research from the past decade. Eugene, OR:
 Consortium for Appropriate Dispute Resolution in Special Education.

 Center for the Study of Education Policy. (2004). School/home communication: Using technology to enhance parental involvement: A project for the Illinois Century Network and Governor Rod R. Blagojevich. Normal, IL: Illinois State University, College of Education.

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2012). *Parent engagement: Strategies for involving parents in school health*. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Chau, M., & Xu, J. (2012). Business intelligence in blogs: Understanding consumer interactions and communities. *Management Information Systems Quarterly*, 36(4), 1189-1216.
- Chu, W. (2012). Implementation as ongoing and incremental: Case study of Web 2.0 use for staff communication. *Journal of Access Services*, 9(3), 134-153.
 doi:10.1080/15367967.2012.684579
- Collins, K., Coulson, A., Zhu, J., Rohm, C. E. T., & Stewart, W. (2006). Web design: Elements of effective communications. *Communications of the IIMA*, 6(2), 63-70.
- Cormode, G., & Krishnamurthy, B. (2008). Key differences between Web 1.0 and Web 2.0. *First Monday*, *13*(6). Retrieved from

http://journals.uic.edu/ojs/index.php/fm/article/view/2125/1972

- Davis, D. (2000). Supporting parent, family and communication involvement in your school. Portland, OR: Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory.
- Desforges, C. (2003). The impact of parental involvement, parental support and family education on pupil achievements and adjustment: A literature review.
 Nottingham, UK: Department for Education and Skills.

DiNucci, D. (1999). Fragmented future. Print, 53(4), 32, 221-222.

Dippelreiter, B., Grün, C., Pöttler, M., Seidel, I., Berger, H., Dittenbach, M., Pesenhofer, A.
(2008). Online tourism communities on the path to Web 2.0: An evaluation. *Information Technology & Tourism*, 10(4), 329-353.

- Dixon, A. (n.d.). *Web 2.0 for communication* (SVEA training module). Stuttgart, Germany: SVEA.
- Downes, S. (2005). E-learning 2.0. *eLearn Magazine*. Retrieved from http://www.elearnmag.org/subpage.cfm?section=articles&article=29-1
- Driessen, G., Smit, F., & Sleegers, P. (2005). Parental involvement and educational achievement. *British Educational Research Journal*, *31*(4), 509-532.
- Edwards, A., & Warin, J. (2010). Parental involvement in raising the achievement of primary school pupil why bother. *Oxford Review of Education*, 25(3), 325-341.
- Epstein, J. L. (1986). Parents' reaction to teacher practice of parent involvement. *The Elementary School Journal*, 86(3), 277-294.
- Evans, M. (2008). The Evolution of the Web From Web 1.0 to Web 4.0, Retrieved from http://www.cscan.org/presentations/08-11-06-MikeEvans-Web.pdf
- Fan, X., & Chen, M. (2001). Parental involvement and students' academic achievement: A meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 13(1), 1-22. doi:10.1023/A:1009048817385
- Furner, J., (2004). Conceptual Analysis: A Method for Understanding Information as Evidence, and Evidence as Information. *Archival Science*, 2004(4), 233–265.
- Gallaugher, J. M. (2008). Peer production, social media, and Web 2.0. In *Information* systems: A manager's guide to harnessing technology (chapter 6). Retrieved from http://2012books.lardbucket.org/books/information-systems-a-manager-s-guideto-harnessing-technology-v1.0/section_10.html

- Gianzero, G. (1999). Promoting parental involvement, improving student outcomes (San Diego Dialogue working paper). Retrieved from www.sandiegodialogue.org/pdfs/Parental%20Involvement%20doc.pdf
- Graham. P. (2005). *Web 2.0: Want to start a startup?* Retrieved from http://www.paulgraham.com/web20.html
- Graham-Clay, S. (2005). Communicating with parents: Strategies for teachers. *School Community Journal*, *16*(1), 117-129.
- Greenhow, C., Robelia, B., & Hughes, J. E. (2009). Learning, teaching, and scholarship in a digital Age: Web 2.0 and classroom research: What path should we take now? *Educational Researcher*, *38*(4), 246-259.
- Grolnick, W. S., & Slowiaczek, M. L. (1994). Parents' involvement in children's schooling: A multidimensional conceptualization and motivational model. *Child Development*, 65(1), 237-252. doi:10.1111/1467-8624.ep9406130692
- Hassenzahl, M. (2008). User experience (UX): Towards an experiential perspective on product quality. *Proceedings of the 20th international conference of the Association Francophone d'Interaction Homme-Machine* (pp. 11-15). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Hill, N. E., & Taylor, L. C. (2004). Parental school involvement and children's academic achievement. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *13*(4), 161-164. doi:10.1111/j.0963-7214.2004.00298.x
- Hoover-Dempsey, K.V., Bassier, O., & Brissie, J. S. (1987). Parent involvement:
 Contribution of teacher efficacy, school socioeconomic status and other school characteristics. *American Education Research Journal*, 24(3), 417-435.

- Huang, C., Ku, H., Chao, Y., Lin, C., & Chen, Y. (2012). Design and implementation of an adaptive Web2.0 QoS-based home appliance control service platform. *Software: Practice & Experience*, 42(1), 57-87. doi:10.1002/spe.1049
- Huseth, M. (2001). Using technology to increase parent-to-teacher communication. *Learning & Leading with Technology*, 29(2), 6-17.
- IBM Corporation. (2008). *Putting the power of Web 2.0 into practice* (IBM White paper). Cambridge, MA: Author.
- Iannetta, M. (2006). Improving parental involvement : an action plan for secondary students. (Unpublished MEd Project). Brock University, Faculty of Education, St. Catharines, Ontario
- Kaplan, M. A., & Haenlein, M. (2010). Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of social media. *Business Horizon*, 2010(53), 59-68.
- Keita, D. (2010). Parental involvement in school in a double minority context: The case of racial francophones (Doctoral dissertation). University of Toronto, Toronto, ON.
- Kristin L. A. (n.d). The design of Web 2.0: The rise of the template, the fall of design. *Computers and Composition*, 27, 4-14. doi:10.1016/j.compcom.2009.11.004
- Law, E., Roto, V., Hassenzahl, M., Vermeeren, A., & Kort, J. (2009, April).
 Understanding, scoping and defining user experience: A survey approach. *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Human Factors in Computing Systems conference* (pp. 719-728). New York, NY: ACM. doi:10.1145/1518701.1518813
- Longfellow Jr, C. A. (2004). *Enhancing school-home communication through technology in Christina School District* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Delaware).

- Lin, J. C. (2007). Online stickiness: Its antecedents and effect on purchasing intention. Behavior & Technology, 26(6), 507-516.
- McIntosh, J. (2008). Family background, parental involvement, and academic achievement in Canadian schools. Retrieved from http://economics.ca/2008/papers/0071.pdf
- McKenna, M., & Willms, J. D, (1998). Involving parents in school decision-making: The challenge facing parent councils in Canada. *Childhood Education*, 74(6), 378-382.
- McKenna, K. Y. A. & Bargh, J. A. (1999).Causes and Consequences of Social Interaction on the Internet: A Conceptual Framework, *Media Psychology*, 1(3), 249-269.
- Modi, G. S. (2004). Seminar report on service oriented architecture & Web 2.0. Retrieved from www.gsmodi.com/files/SOA_Web2_Report.pdf
- Montgomery, D. J. (2005). Communicating without harm: Strategies to enhance parent teacher communication. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *37*(5), 50-55.
- Muuß-Merholz, J. (2011, April). Web 2.0 as innovative toolbox: The Web 2.0 map of education events. Paper presented at the Perspectives of Web 2.0 for Citizenship Education in Europe conference, Brno, Czech Republic.

Murugesan, S. (2007). Understanding Web 2.0, IT Professional, 9 (4), 34-41.

Naik, U., & Shivalingaiah, D. (2008). *Comparative study of Web 1.0, Web 2.0 and Web 3.0*. Paper presented at the 6th international CALIBER conference, University of Allahabad, Allahabad, India.

- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2005). *Report of the Parent Voice in Education Project*. Retrieved from http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/document/reports/parentvoice.pdf
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2010). Parents in partnership: A parent engagement policy for Ontario schools. Retrieved from

www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/parents/policy.html

- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2013). *Find a school board*. Retrieved from http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/sbinfo/boardlist.html
- Parent Involvement Committee. (2012). Making a Difference: A Practical Handbook for Parent Involvement Committee Member.

http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/teachers/HandbookPIC.pdf

- O'Reilly, T. (2007). What Is Web 2.0: Design patterns and business models for the next generation of software. *Communications & Strategies*, 65, 17-37.
- O'Reilly, T., & Battelle, J. (2009). *Web squared: Web 2.0 five years on, 20*(1). O'Reilly Media.
- People for Education. (2012). Partnering to make our schools strong: The 2012 report on Ontario's school councils. Toronto, ON: Author.
- Phipps, L. (2007). Web 2.0 and social software: An introduction. Retrieved from http://www.jisc.ac.uk/publications/publications/web2socialsoftwarev1.aspx
- Pomerantz, E. M., Moorman, E. A., & Litwack, S. D. (2007). The how, whom, and why of parents' involvement in children's academic lives: More is not always better. *Review of Educational Research*, 77(3), 373-410

- Prilla, M., & Ritterskamp, C. (2008). Finding synergies: Web 2.0 and collaboration. In P.
 Salembier & M. Tixier (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 8th international conference on the Design of Cooperative Systems* (pp. 35-41). Carry-le-Rouet, France: COOP 08.
- Pushor, D. (2007). *Parent engagement: Creating a shared world*. Paper presented at the Ontario Education Research Symposium, Toronto, ON. Retrieved from www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/research/pushor.pdf
- Rea, A., & White D. (1999). The changing nature of writing: Process or code in the classroom. *Computers and Composition*, 16, 421-436.
- Rouse, M. (2005). Stickiness. *SearchSOA.com*. Retrieved from http://searchsoa.techtarget.com/definition/stickiness
- Saha, R., & Grover, S. (2011). Quantitative evaluation of website quality dimension for Web 2.0 environment. *International Journal of U- & E-Service, Science & Technology*, 4(4), 15-36.
- Scapin, D. L., Senach, B., Trousse, B., & Pallot, M. (2012). User experience: Buzzword or new paradigm? Paper presented at the fifth international conference on Advances in Computer-Human Interactions, Valencia, Spain.
- Sinay, E., & Zheng S. (2010). *Research report of the 2009-2010 TDSB parent* satisfaction survey results: Executive summary. Toronto, ON: TDSB.
- Solomon, G., & Lynne S. (2007). *Web 2.0: New tools, new schools*. Eugene, OR: International Society for Technology in Education.
- Statistics Canada. (2010). *Internet use by individuals, by location of access, by province* (*Canada*). Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sumsom/l01/cst01/comm36a-eng.htm

- Stelmach, B. (2006). High school students' perspectives on the role of parents in school improvement. *Journal of School Public Relations*, 27(1), 50-83.
- Thompson, B. (2009). Parent–teacher email strategies as the elementary and secondary levels. *Qualitative Research and Report in Communication*, *10*(1), 17-25.
- Travers, R. L. (2012). Social media in dermatology: Moving to Web 2.0. *Information Technology in Dermatology and Dermatologic Surgery*, *31*(3), 168-173.
- Turner, J. (2000). Parent involvement: What can we learn from research. *Montessori Life*, *12*(2), 7-39
- Vermeeren, A. P. O. S., Law, E. L-C., Roto, V., Obrist, M., Hoonhout, K., & Väänänen-Vainio-Mattila, K. (2010). User experience evaluation methods: Current state and development needs. Proceeding of the 6th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction (pp. 521-530). New York, NY: ACM. doi:10.1145/1868914.1868973

Appendix A

Snapshot of the Homepage of DSBN



Appendix B

Snapshot of the "Parent" Main Page of DSBN

Senter Senter Senter Senter	Contact Tensioon Skys the Linit
Parents	
DSBN Resources and Services	Linka
End a School	• EQAO
Guidance and Career Education	Welcome Centre
Earent Involvement Committee	DSH5 Anthology 2013-2012
Scholarshyps/Awards	
School Sports	fleatth and Safety
School Support Services	Live Sale, Work Smart Gr. 9-10
School Websites	Live Safe, Work Smart Gr. 11-12
 Environmental Sustainability at the DSBN 	Germ Prevention Program
Special Education	Live Safe, Work Smart (Co op)
Programs	
Attemative Education Sites and Contact Information (Directory and	
Gudej (PDF)	
Alternative Programs	
Anny Reserve Cooperative Program	
Community Education Services	
- Ufetime Learning Guide	
Cooperative Education	
DSBN elearning	
Early Learning Program (ELP)	
ESUELD	
Erench and international Languages	
Homework Help	
International Education	
Ortario Youth Apprenticeship Program (DYAP)	

Appendix C

Snapshot of the Homepage of OCDSB



Appendix D

Snapshot of the "Parent" Main Page of OCDSB



Appendix E

Snapshot of the "Parent" Main Page TDSB



Appendix F

Snapshot of the Simplified Chinese Version Webpage of TDSB

